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          1  FINANCE AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm Chairman of

          3  the Finance Committee, and I would like to welcome

          4  everyone to this joint hearing of the Finance

          5  Committee and Select Committee on Technology In

          6  Government.

          7                 Seated on my right is my co-chair of

          8  this hearing, Council Member Gale Brewer. Sitting in

          9  the front is Council Member Christine Quinn of

         10  Manhattan. On our far left is Council Member Tracy

         11  Boyland from Brooklyn. Next to Council Member

         12  Boyland is Dennis Gallagher from Queens. Next to him

         13  is Council Member Philip Reed of Manhattan who is

         14  the prime sponsor of the resolution before us.

         15                 Next to Council Member Reed is

         16  Counsel to the Finance Committee, Jim Caras. Next to

         17  Council Member Brewer is Council Member Helen Sears

         18  of Queens. Next to her is Council Member Mike

         19  McMahon of Staten Island, and last, but not least,

         20  Council Member Robert Jackson of Manhattan.

         21                 Today we are reviewing the collection

         22  efforts made by the Department of Finance to collect

         23  fines issued by the Environmental Control Board on

         24  behalf of agencies that write violations covering a

         25  wide variety of City code violations.
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          2                 The purpose of this hearing is

          3  two-fold: First, we must get a handle on the

          4  collection process and the reasons that fines go

          5  uncollected; and, second, we need to explore the

          6  role of technology and other innovations in

          7  improving collection efforts.

          8                 The Environmental Control Board of

          9  the Department of Protection makes initial

         10  collection efforts for fines issued by agencies,

         11  including Sanitation, Transportation, Police,

         12  Health, Buildings, Fire and Environmental

         13  Protection.

         14                 After initial collection efforts,

         15  cases are transferred to the Department of Finance

         16  for final collection action.

         17                 For the next several years, the City

         18  expects to collect around 39 million in ECB fine

         19  revenue.

         20                 An audit conducted by the New York

         21  City Comptroller's Office over the summer estimated

         22  that there was approximately $634 million in

         23  uncollected and outstanding ECB fine revenue and

         24  suggested that improvements in the collection

         25  process could be implemented to capture a portion of
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          2  this outstanding balance, as well as promote a

          3  higher collection rate going forward in the future.

          4                 The Comptroller estimates that we

          5  should be able to collect 26 million of these fines

          6  if these recommendations are implemented, although

          7  Commissioner Stark believes that this figure is

          8  optimistic, but we'll hear from her momentarily.

          9                 Obviously, going forward we need to

         10  explore ways in which we can ensure that an

         11  ever-increasing percentage of fines written go into

         12  the category of collectible.

         13                 The combined effect of the lingering

         14  national recession, the press financial market, and

         15  terrorist attack has decreased revenue collections

         16  in New York City by over $3 billion over the last 15

         17  months.

         18                 We are all painfully aware of the

         19  drastic steps we have had to take to address this

         20  revenue shortfall.

         21                 It would be irresponsible for

         22  government to ask for additional sacrifices from its

         23  law-abiding citizens, while allow those who ignore

         24  statutes designed to protect the public to avoid

         25  paying their penalties.
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          2                 Recoupment of outstanding fine

          3  revenue can fund important services during this

          4  current time of fiscal crisis.

          5                 While it is understood that only a

          6  small portion of outstanding fine revenue may

          7  actually be collectible, even an additional $25

          8  million can fund many important services that have

          9  been subject to proposed agency reduction programs,

         10  such as fire house closings and day care funding,

         11  just to name two.

         12                 I would now like to turn over the mic

         13  to my colleague and Co-chair, Council Member Gale

         14  Brewer, who heads the Select Committee on technology

         15  and who has worked so hard at this hearing.

         16                 After we hear from Chair Brewer, I

         17  would like to ask Council Member Philip Reed, who

         18  introduced this resolution to make a statement.

         19                 Council Member Brewer.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you, Chair

         21  Weprin. And I also want to thank Nick Noe, who is

         22  sitting behind me, and who has been the chair of all

         23  of our work in a sense, certainly the policy analyst

         24  for the Select Committee on Technology in

         25  Government.
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          2                 We have been working hard on this

          3  Committee to look at revenue possibilities that

          4  could be enhanced by e-government opportunities, and

          5  just so you know, this Wednesday when we meet as a

          6  full City Council we'll be voting out a bill, Intro.

          7  No. 119, that puts up all official City documents up

          8  on the web, and that will be the first that's built

          9  in the United States.

         10                 On Thursday we're releasing a report

         11  on e-procurement reform that contains a series of

         12  recommendations that will save the City millions of

         13  dollars, we hope, and improve the overall

         14  procurement environment for local businesses.

         15                 Of course, this follows the important

         16  efforts of Comptroller Thompson, who is here today,

         17  and our very own Robert Jackson, Chair of the

         18  Contracts Committee.

         19                 And then on February 6th, across the

         20  street on the 14th floor, we're going to hold a

         21  hearing on the human services Extranet project,

         22  which is an effort that will electronically link

         23  human service providers together with City agencies,

         24  in addition to a wide array of local and national

         25  human service providers, vendors and academic
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          2  administrations that are going to work with us to

          3  lay out the draft concept for implementing this

          4  extranet.

          5                 And for today's issue, it reminds me

          6  of the work that we and others have done with regard

          7  to trying to reform the City procurement process,

          8  there's money to be saved for sure. There is

          9  technology that is not adequate to the task at-hand,

         10  and there is technology that could improve the

         11  process, and of course there are the inter, and

         12  sometimes the intra-agency coordination problems.

         13                 So, we look forward to hear from our

         14  panelists and their visions, and we are particularly

         15  pleased to have a resolution from Council Member

         16  Reed that we will hear and move forward on. Thank

         17  you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         19  Council member.

         20                 Thank you, Council Member Reed, for

         21  introducing this resolution and we will now hear

         22  from you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you,

         24  Council Members Brewer and Weprin.

         25                 This hearing certainly as it relates
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          2  to our finances and the predicament that the City

          3  finds itself in is timely as we go into our budget

          4  negotiations, and certainly the citizens of New York

          5  would like to see us collect what is due to us

          6  before we impose more taxes and fees and fines on

          7  them. I think because it's also frustrating that

          8  many of us as good citizens or elected officials

          9  find ourselves trying to use the process to get

         10  recalcitrant landlords to fix elevators or other

         11  problems, and find ourselves being laughed at by

         12  these people because they're aware that there's

         13  really no penalty if you don't fix the things, and

         14  the City gives away fines and really doesn't, I

         15  guess, have the wherewithal to collect them.

         16                 I would not characterize it as not

         17  having the will to want to enforce their law, but it

         18  does seem that there is no wherewithal.

         19                 And my resolution was essentially

         20  prompted by that based on some complaints, and most

         21  they start rather small, of building tenants about

         22  an elevator that had been out for two years, and

         23  carrying people up and down in wheelchairs and the

         24  ambulettes, and trying to understand why the

         25  landlord didn't fix it in spite of all the
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          2  violations that it had been given and why in fact we

          3  haven't collected the fees, and then after that,

          4  shortly after that, looking at Comptroller

          5  Thompson's report, it was very frustrating that we

          6  had this much money out here and that a City could

          7  be sitting here essentially doing nothing about how

          8  to collect these fines, and when you're trying to

          9  say to people we are the City and we can do X or Y

         10  and, you know, challenge people's disrespect for the

         11  law, and they just laugh at you because they're

         12  never going to have to pay the fine, it does make it

         13  difficult to go out to the general public, one, say,

         14  well, now you should pay us more taxes or fees

         15  because you're the law-abiding citizen, and, oh, by

         16  the way, I can't fix that problem that you reported

         17  to us because essentially the City doesn't have any

         18  power.

         19                 So, I'm very happy that we're having

         20  this hearing today. I think the general public is. I

         21  think it's timely. I'd like to hear the response

         22  from both Department of Finance, as well as the

         23  Environmental Control Board, as to exactly what it

         24  is we're going to do to remedy these problems.

         25                 I know that Council Member Brewer has
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          2  worked very hard on the issue of technology in

          3  government and we have a Mayor who certainly has had

          4  some success with technology in his own personal

          5  finances, so I think maybe if we put all of that

          6  good thought together, might be able to finally,

          7  number one, collect the money, but number two,

          8  demonstrate to people who violate laws in the City

          9  of New York that there is some genuine penalty, and

         10  perhaps most of all make the poor New York City

         11  taxpayer who constantly gets hit up for more money,

         12  make them feel like somebody else is actually going

         13  to start paying their own part of this pie.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         16  Council Member Reed.

         17                 We've also been joined by Council

         18  Member Madeline Provenzano from the Bronx. Welcome.

         19                 We'll now hear from our first

         20  witness, the Comptroller of the City of New York,

         21  William C. Thompson, Jr.

         22                 Do you have a prepared statement,

         23  Comptroller Thompson?

         24                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Yes, I do, Mr.

         25  Chairman.
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          2                 Copies are being circulated.

          3                 Chairperson Weprin, Chairperson

          4  Brewer and other members of the City Council, good

          5  morning.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning.

          7                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Thank you for

          8  the opportunity, and I'd really like to thank you

          9  for helping in accommodating my schedule, in

         10  allowing me to testify first, and I greatly

         11  appreciate it and would like to also thank the

         12  Administration for allowing me -- well, the Council

         13  for accommodating my schedule, and my apologies to

         14  the Administration.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The

         16  Administration was accommodating also.

         17                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Thank you.

         18                 But I would like to thank you for the

         19  opportunity to testify on the Department of

         20  Finance's collection of Environmental Control Board

         21  penalties.

         22                 As the City's Chief Fiscal Officer,

         23  it is my responsibility to help identify ways the

         24  City can reduce waste and increase the effectiveness

         25  of City services.
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          2                 I've instructed my staff to work

          3  aggressively to identify uncollected revenue that

          4  will help the City in these difficult, fiscal times.

          5                 It is particularly important that the

          6  Department of Finance, as the primary agent

          7  responsible for collecting fines and penalties due

          8  to the City maximizes its efforts also.

          9                 I am pleased that the City Council is

         10  addressing this important issue, and I welcome the

         11  opportunity to share some of my office's findings in

         12  this matter.

         13                 In June 2002, I issued an audit of

         14  the Department of Finance. The audit indicated that

         15  the City had failed to collect over $634 million in

         16  outstanding penalties on Environmental Control Board

         17  cases.

         18                 The audit estimated that at the very

         19  least, the low number, $26.2 million, could have

         20  been collected through enhanced collection efforts.

         21                 The collection process involves

         22  several stages of effort by both the Department of

         23  Finance and the Environmental Control Board.

         24                 The ECB issues the fines, after

         25  providing a forum for contesting notices of
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          2  violation issued by various City agencies and

          3  mailing at least two requests for payment notices,

          4  called dunning notices, ECB forwards the case to the

          5  Department of Finance for final penalty collection

          6  efforts.

          7                 The Department of Finance has handled

          8  final state collection efforts on ECB cases since

          9  July of 1996.

         10                 Upon receipt of ECB cases on the

         11  computer tape, Department of Finance procedures

         12  require a computer-system generated mailing of at

         13  least one additional dunning notice.

         14                 This mailing is followed by an effort

         15  to contact the respondent by phone, an attempt to

         16  identify the respondent's assets, and a referral, if

         17  appropriate, to the Department of Finance Legal

         18  Affairs Unit.

         19                 Depending on the nature of the case,

         20  the Legal Affairs Unit either then initiates an

         21  execution of the judgment by the sheriff's office,

         22  or a docketing of the case in court by a City Law

         23  Department.

         24                 Our audit found that in Fiscal Year

         25  2001, the Department of Finance made efforts to
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          2  collect on certain ECB cases, penalties totaling

          3  roughly $12 million, but the agency only collected

          4  about $1.9 million on these cases.

          5                 The audit also found the Department

          6  of Finance made no effort to collect on more than

          7  $452 million in automated violations processing

          8  system or AVPS cases.

          9                 AVPS cases involve violations, such

         10  as Sanitation Department infractions that do not

         11  require corrective action by the respondent.

         12                 Although ECB would be able to forward

         13  computer tapes on AVPS cases, Department of Finance

         14  officials informed us during our audit that they did

         15  not request such tapes because they do not have

         16  enough staff to work on the cases.

         17                 The audit found that the Department

         18  of Finance also made no effort to collect on more

         19  than $182 million in BARAMIS cases. BARAMIS, which

         20  stands for Bureau of Air Resources Automated

         21  Management Information System, is the second major

         22  type of ECB case.

         23                 These cases involve violations, such

         24  as buildings and Fire Department infractions that

         25  require corrective action by the respondent.
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          2                 DOF does receive computer tapes from

          3  ECB on these cases, however, Department of Finance

          4  works primarily on current BARAMIS cases. Cases that

          5  are more than one year old are generally placed

          6  automatically in an inactive status within

          7  Department of Finance's computer assisted collection

          8  system.

          9                 The total penalties in BARAMIS cases

         10  in Fiscal Year 2001, totaled $36 million. Based on

         11  our review of 150 randomly-selected cases from that

         12  period, as of January 2002, 68 percent of the cases

         13  with penalties more than $24 million had not been

         14  worked on by Department of Finance.

         15                 In addition, by not working on the

         16  older BARAMIS cases, Department of Finance ignored

         17  an additional $158 million in penalties.

         18                 The audit estimated that more than

         19  ten percent of the penalties in current AVPS cases

         20  and three percent of the penalties in older cases

         21  could have been collected in Fiscal Year 2001. And

         22  we're trying to use low numbers at that point.

         23                 In addition, the audit estimated that

         24  ten percent of the penalties in current BARAMIS

         25  cases and three percent in older BARAMIS cases could
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          2  have been collected.

          3                 On its own, the City could have

          4  collected fines totaling as much as 26.2 million

          5  dollars.

          6                 Had the $372 million in older AVPS

          7  cases and the $158 million in older BARAMIS cases,

          8  been referred to a private collection agency, as an

          9  earlier Comptroller Office audit recommended, at

         10  least $15.9 million could have been collected.

         11                 Even after providing the contractor a

         12  20 percent commission on this amount, the City still

         13  could have realized $12.7 million through this

         14  approach during Fiscal Year 2001.

         15                 Our audit also determined that the

         16  Department of Finance's computer assistant

         17  collection system data were not consistently updated

         18  to include case status changes noted in ECB's

         19  computer system, and that required dunning notices

         20  were often not sent by the Department of Finance.

         21                 As a result of our findings we make

         22  four primary recommendations to the Department of

         23  Finance in the audit.

         24                 First, we recommend that Department

         25  of Finance significantly enhance its effort to
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          2  collect payments on ECB cases.

          3                 Second, we recommend the Department

          4  of Finance refer its older ECB cases to a private

          5  collection agency.

          6                 Third, we recommend that the agency

          7  closely monitor case information in it's

          8  computer-assisted collection system, to make sure

          9  that it contains updated information available and

         10  ECB's computer system.

         11                 Finally, Department of Finance should

         12  improve its consistency in sending dunning notices.

         13                 In its written response to the

         14  audit's findings and recommendation. The Department

         15  of Finance stated that our revenue collection

         16  estimates were too high, but that it agreed with the

         17  draft audits main conclusion that collection rate on

         18  ECB debt has been unacceptably low, and that the

         19  draft contains useful observations and

         20  recommendations that will help Finance improve its

         21  efforts to collect delinquent ECB debt.

         22                 The City of New York imposes

         23  penalties for violations because our law-makers have

         24  determined that certain actions and conditions are a

         25  threat to the public's health and safety.
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          2                 We will not change behavior if the

          3  public views the penalties as meaningless, because

          4  the City does not assertively enforce its own laws.

          5                 In addition to the benefit of

          6  protecting our citizenry, enhanced collection

          7  efforts will yield additional revenue in these

          8  difficult economic times.

          9                 We, as a City, have much to gain by

         10  improving the collection system.

         11                 And I'd also like to point out that

         12  this audit covers period of time by the previous

         13  Administration of the City, and then in addition, as

         14  I indicated, we were pleased with the positive

         15  response by Department of Finance to our audit.

         16                 Also, I'm joined at the table by

         17  Deputy Comptroller Greg Brooks. He's the Deputy

         18  Comptroller for Audit, accountancy, let's see,

         19  policy and contracts, as well as Eduardo Castell,

         20  Deputy Comptroller, Deputy Comptroller for External

         21  Affairs.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         23                 In your testimony, Comptroller, you

         24  specifically recommended that the Department of

         25  Finance awarded a contract involving referral of
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          2  older ECB cases for the collection efforts.

          3                 Do you think maybe it pays to

          4  basically look into contracting out collection, you

          5  know, depending on RFPs and results back and

          6  competition? And, again, I'm generally not in favor

          7  of privatization in general but in certain cases

          8  when you have this type of outstanding violation,

          9  doesn't it maybe make sense to try to RFP it and get

         10  a collection agency that will take all of the cases

         11  at a very cost effective rate that might make it

         12  more attractive to the City?

         13                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Definitely. And

         14  while I may not be a fan all the time of

         15  privatization, I think this is one example where

         16  Department of Finance, at least on current cases, is

         17  probably making a better attempt to collect, at the

         18  same point, looking back, looking back over a five-

         19  to ten-year period of time with some outstanding

         20  penalties that have existed, as I said, for the

         21  five- to ten-year period of time, I think it would

         22  make sense to contract those out.

         23                 If we gain, you know, at this point

         24  any savings, or anything that you gain is a profit,

         25  so I think it's a good idea.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Part of my

          3  hesitation on that is that when you are dealing with

          4  the private sector, obviously, you know, they're

          5  looking, you know, obviously to make money, at the

          6  same time produce results, and it might make more

          7  sense if we looked at the overall picture, rather

          8  than the most difficult one, because they may not be

          9  ones that the collection agencies are interested in.

         10                 If they have a history of

         11  non-collection for so many years, they may only be

         12  interested at a very large percentage, say 50

         13  percent.

         14                 Well, if you did an overall

         15  contracting out, especially in light of the fact

         16  that we have budget cuts and we have limited

         17  resources, you might be able to get somebody to do

         18  it for ten percent. You know, if it was profitable

         19  enough in an overall picture.

         20                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: No, I would say

         21  that the current case is probably the ones within

         22  the 12-month period of time, should probably remain

         23  with the Department of Finance, but those that go

         24  past that.

         25                 In spite of the fact if you put it
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          2  out, if you RFP it as part of a larger package, and

          3  you don't give those outside contractors the

          4  opportunity to cherry-pick, or to say I want to

          5  collect this year, or just last year, but I want,

          6  you know, if you put the entire package out I would

          7  say that that would make sense, and would lead, at

          8  the very least, to increased collections.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Chair

         10  Brewer.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I have a couple

         12  of questions.

         13                 One is that your audit estimates that

         14  ten percent of ECB penalties and three percent of

         15  older penalties could be collected. I was just

         16  wondering how you arrived at these percentages?

         17                 I know you were correctly trying to

         18  be conservative; is that what it is?

         19                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Those numbers

         20  were arrived at based on reviews done in the

         21  nineties by private collection agencies that were

         22  hired by our office to set the collectibility of

         23  Department of Housing Preservation and Development

         24  and Parking Violations Bureau's penalties, so you

         25  try to draw parallels by using those numbers.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

          3                 My other quick question is, I think

          4  we'll hear later, but I know that there are

          5  contracts, I believe, that do some back office data

          6  entry and it's done in Ghana, and I just didn't know

          7  if that's something that goes through your office;

          8  is that anything that you're aware of?

          9                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I wasn't aware

         10  of that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Well, we'll

         12  hear later.

         13                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: That is

         14  something that is new to us.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. We'll talk

         16  about it later.

         17                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Just one more

         19  question. Back in 1988 and '89, Congresswoman

         20  Maloney, Carolyn Maloney, when she was Councilwoman

         21  Maloney, did a series of hearings on the use of

         22  outside collection agencies when she was Chair of

         23  the Subcommittee on City Contracts, and reported

         24  that such outside agencies were virtually no better

         25  than the City in collecting debt.
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          2                 In your opinion, has this situation

          3  changed, or has there been any further study on the

          4  issue of private collection, versus in-house

          5  collection?

          6                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Well, I think

          7  in looking back at collections over a period of

          8  time, I don't think we lose anything by going

          9  outside. I think it can only be a benefit at this

         10  point in going and looking at past due penalties and

         11  fines.

         12                 So, I would say that given that, I

         13  think that the private sector has probably improved

         14  over a period of years also, given uses of

         15  technology and other things.

         16                 So, I would say that it would make

         17  sense to contract that out.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Any of my

         19  colleagues have questions?

         20                 Council Member Helen Sears.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair.

         23                 Good morning, and it's good to see

         24  you again.

         25                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Good morning,
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          2  Council member.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I think it's

          4  kind of astounding how long these outstanding fines

          5  have been. It kind of staggers me because the

          6  public, when we've had to vote on a very high

          7  property tax, I've gotten letters from organizations

          8  that pointed out the outstanding fines, and if we

          9  did that, perhaps that tax wouldn't have to be as

         10  high.

         11                 I'm not confused about aged accounts,

         12  but it seems that the time frame in which people can

         13  pay their fine, is something that we, the Council,

         14  have to look at. I'm not sure if that is a

         15  legislative process. I think so. Because you've got

         16  30, 60, 90 days for aged accounts, and we're reading

         17  and hearing about a few years. Perhaps the time

         18  frame is what really needs to be enforced, and if

         19  after 90 days, they are not paying it, is it time to

         20  give it out to the private sector?

         21                 The City cannot collect all its

         22  fines. I'm a big supporter of putting them out to

         23  the private sector. And I agree with you, there have

         24  been huge improvements, and I don't believe the

         25  private sector is there to lose money, they want to

                                                            27

          1  FINANCE AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  make money, and as a result, they're going to do

          3  everything they can to do that.

          4                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I think some of

          5  it is combination of time frame, but at the same

          6  point, and I don't know if after 90 days I'd be

          7  moving from the agency, but at the same point it is

          8  clear that after a defined period of time, that it

          9  can't be collected by the City, that that should be

         10  contracted.

         11                 We may want to look at percentages in

         12  conjunction with Department of Finance, to see over

         13  what period of time it becomes more difficult to

         14  collect and then after that period of time it's

         15  contracted out.

         16                 So, we may want to look at, it is

         17  clear that you may want to define things within, and

         18  say within that 90-day period of time, that after

         19  that you become much more aggressive in trying to

         20  collect those penalties. But after, I mean based on

         21  the statistics and the agency would have that, you

         22  may want to contract that out after that period of

         23  time, and it may in fact wind up being, you know, as

         24  we look at it, some of it may wind up being, as we

         25  look at it, some of it may wind up being
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          2  legislative, that time frames need to be adjusted by

          3  the Council.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I think so.

          5  Because the longer it goes, we know that not only is

          6  it difficult, in most cases it's been impossible to

          7  collect, people move away or they do all kinds of

          8  things.

          9                 So, the time frame, I know that ECB,

         10  I was a little astonished to find out that the

         11  violations, they have a year on which to pay them. I

         12  can tell you that, it's absurd. And that is really

         13  something that we should pursue, because within that

         14  year they're just not paying them.

         15                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Well, it's

         16  clear when you look at other things over a period of

         17  time, as you've condensed time periods on things

         18  like Parking Violations Bureau, and after, you know,

         19  after a defined period of time, and after a lower

         20  number of tickets it becomes tougher, at least as

         21  far as not having people, or not having people, or

         22  not having collections agencies chase your car.

         23  Things like that, or shrinking that time frame, and

         24  be more aggressive after shorter periods of time

         25  would lead to increased payment of penalties,
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          2  definitely.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I would agree,

          4  because you know, I don't see us being punitive, I

          5  just see that we have to basically have people

          6  respond to the law, and I would like to make that

          7  separation very clearly, that whatever we do,

          8  whatever actions we take, is really not punitive.

          9                 People are disobeying the law, and we

         10  see it every which way, and I think it's time this

         11  City started to let people know that laws are made

         12  to be enforced.

         13                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I would agree

         14  with you, definitely.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Chair Brewer had

         17  a question?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Very quickly.

         19                 I know you mentioned that

         20  computer-assisted collection system, as one of your

         21  recommendations, and I know that your report dealt

         22  primarily with the lack of collection, in terms of

         23  the numbers, but I just was wondering, in terms of

         24  that system, something that maybe you looked at to

         25  see how important it is, which I assume it is, for
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          2  that system to be regularly updated by the

          3  Environmental Control Board's computer system, with

          4  any new information on previously forwarded cases.

          5                 We've been looking a little bit at

          6  how these different systems do or don't work

          7  together, and I was just wondering if you had any

          8  thoughts on that?

          9                 Greg.

         10                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER BROOKS: Greg

         11  Brooks, Deputy Comptroller.

         12                 We found that information in the

         13  computer-assisted system was in fact often outdated.

         14                 That presents a real problem for both

         15  the Department of Finance and for the people who

         16  have violations. On one hand, Department of Finance

         17  can be wasting its resources, if, in fact, the ECB

         18  has already resolved the case.

         19                 On the other hand, those who have the

         20  violations, who may have paid it through the ECB,

         21  somehow missed the time before the tapes were sent

         22  over, find themselves in a position of getting

         23  dunning notices, when in fact those violations have

         24  been paid.

         25                 So, it's clear that there needs to be
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          2  a better coordination, and the audit recommended

          3  just that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any of my

          7  colleagues have questions?

          8                 Seeing none, Comptroller, thank you

          9  very much. It's always a pleasure to have you appear

         10  before this Committee, and we look forward to seeing

         11  you during the budget process.

         12                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Chairperson

         13  Weprin, Chairperson Brewer, thank you very much.

         14  It's been a pleasure being here.

         15                 Thank you, members.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Our next witness

         17  is Commissioner Martha Stark, of the Department of

         18  Finance. And she's going to be joined by Anne

         19  McCarthy, Executive Director of ECB; and Michael

         20  Moran, Deputy Director of ECB.

         21                 MS. McCARTHY: Good morning,

         22  Chairperson Weprin, Chairperson Brewer, and other

         23  Council Members. My name is Anne McCarthy, I'm the

         24  Executive Director of the New York City

         25  Environmental Control Board.
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          2                 On behalf of Commissioner Ward, I

          3  thank you for the opportunity to present testimony

          4  this morning on the collection by the Department of

          5  Finance, of penalties imposed in ECB cases.

          6                 Also with me is Michael Moran, Deputy

          7  Director of ECB.

          8                 To provide some background on the

          9  issue, the first part of my testimony is devoted to

         10  a short explanation of the origin duties and

         11  jurisdiction of the ECB.

         12                 Following that I will explain the

         13  number and types of violations that have generated

         14  uncollected fines.

         15                 After my testimony, my colleagues

         16  from the Department of Finance, and thankfully

         17  Commissioner Stark is here, will discuss in more

         18  detail the City's response to the Comptroller's

         19  audit report on the Department of Finance's

         20  collection of penalties imposed in ECB cases.

         21                 ECB is the administrative tribunal

         22  adjudicating diverse violations of the City's laws

         23  and rules issued by various City agencies empowered

         24  to enforce compliance with the law.

         25                 ECB's jurisdiction ranges from
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          2  Sanitation vendor and important environmental

          3  issues, such as air, water and noise pollution to

          4  other very serious health and safety concerns

          5  regulated in the building code and the fire

          6  prevention code.

          7                 ECB was chartered in 1971 to provide

          8  an alternative to the criminal courts for

          9  adjudication of air pollution and noise pollution

         10  control cases.

         11                 At the time there was increasing

         12  emphasis on these environmental issues and rather

         13  than burden the already overburdened criminal courts

         14  with these violations, it was thought that

         15  administrative hearings would provide a faster and

         16  more effective resolution of air and noise pollution

         17  cases.

         18                 Additionally, the civil penalties

         19  imposed would serve as an incentive to those who

         20  cause the violations to change their behavior.

         21                 The experiment proved successful,

         22  mostly because early directors of the tribunal

         23  recognize the need for keeping the adjudication

         24  functions separate from the enforcement division in

         25  order to avoid any appearance of impropriety or
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          2  collusion between the hearing officers evaluating

          3  the facts, and the inspectors an the enforcement

          4  personnel making the charges.

          5                 It was in this way that due process

          6  could be assured.

          7                 This Division of Labor between

          8  enforcement and adjudication often creates some

          9  confusion in the minds of the public.

         10                 ECB staff do not ever issue

         11  violations. ECB staff adjudicate violations that are

         12  issued by a variety of other City agencies pursuant

         13  to the administrative code.

         14                 In the late 1970s, the City budget

         15  crisis forced the City to make some changes in the

         16  way it dealt with quality of life issues. With a

         17  drastically reduced Sanitation force, the City

         18  needed a way to address street cleanliness issues.

         19  It responded by introducing legislation which

         20  shifted the burden of cleaning the streets to the

         21  building owners and others who had control over the

         22  properties.

         23                 The Department of Sanitation began

         24  providing notices of violation returnable to ECB.

         25  This added additional cases to ECB's docket. Of all

                                                            35

          1  FINANCE AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  the agencies that issue violations returnable to

          3  ECB, DOS remains the agency responsible for the

          4  largest number of violations, with over 470,000

          5  violations in Fiscal 2002.

          6                 ECB's jurisdiction was increased

          7  again in the 1980s to include fire prevention code,

          8  building code and air asbestos code violations. In

          9  fiscal 2002, these classes of violations accounted

         10  for about 75,000 cases.

         11                 Most recently ECB's jurisdiction was

         12  expanded to include violations of Title 19 of the

         13  Administrative.

         14                 That section of the code is enforced

         15  by the Department of Transportation. The Title 19

         16  violations account for an additional 29,000

         17  violations in Fiscal 2002. Our current caseload

         18  exceeds 650,000 cases.

         19                 The structure of the Board, it's

         20  governed by a 13-member board composed of seven

         21  ex-officio members, including the Commissioner of

         22  DEP, who serves as Chair, as well as the

         23  Commissioners of Sanitation, Buildings, Fire,

         24  Consumer Affairs, Police and Health Departments.

         25                 The Board also includes six citizen
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          2  members, five of whom are required by Section 1404

          3  of the New York City Charter, to have expertise in

          4  one of the following areas: Real estate, small

          5  business, air pollution, noise pollution and water

          6  pollution.

          7                 The remaining member is a general

          8  member.

          9                 The citizen members are appointed by

         10  the Mayor and confirmed by the City Council. For

         11  administrative purposes, ECB is part of DEP and all

         12  ECB staff are DEP employees.

         13                 The Hearing Division of ECB employs

         14  hearing officers to determine whether the City's

         15  allegations of code violations are supported.

         16                 All notice of violation are

         17  considered prima facie cases; in other words, the

         18  burden of establishing a violation is met. However,

         19  the issuing agency or officer must properly cite the

         20  section of law or rule violated, the date and time

         21  of the offense, the location of the offense, must

         22  properly identify the respondent, must give

         23  sufficient details of what he or she observed to

         24  support the allegation, that a violation of the code

         25  has been committed.
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          2                 The affidavit of service must be

          3  properly filled out and returned to ECB, or ECB does

          4  not have jurisdiction over the case.

          5                 The hearing officer weighs the

          6  testimony of the respondent who comes in to

          7  challenge the notice of violation, makes a

          8  determination based on the evidence presented. If

          9  the hearing officer determines that a violation

         10  exists, he or she routinely opposes the

         11  Board-approved civil penalty for the infraction

         12  cited.

         13                 If the hearing officer determines

         14  that no violation exists, the NOV is dismissed.

         15                 In addition to live hearings, ECB

         16  also has hearings by mail, meaning hearings in which

         17  the respondent submits a written affidavit and

         18  supporting documents to challenge the issuing

         19  agency's allegation of violation.

         20                 Many respondents prefer this option

         21  because it doesn't require personal appearance. The

         22  downside of the option is that the respondent waives

         23  his or her right to cross examine the issuing

         24  officer.

         25                 On collections, approximately 70
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          2  percent of the total number of cases assigned to ECB

          3  are resolved, meaning the violation is either

          4  dismissed or paid.

          5                 In Fiscal Year of 2002, for example,

          6  ECB collected approximately $45 million from cases

          7  that were resolved. Money becomes part of the City's

          8  general fund.

          9                 The 30 percent of the cases not

         10  involved generate a series of letters from ECB's

         11  Collections Unit requesting payment of the assigned

         12  penalty.

         13                 If the dunning letters from ECB do

         14  not generate payment, or rather resolution, the case

         15  is docketed in civil court, as a personal judgment

         16  or in personam judgment, valid for eight years.

         17                 After the case is docketed, it is

         18  referred to Finance for collections. And just so

         19  that you know, it's generally between 90 and 120

         20  days after they have defaulted or after they have

         21  failed to pay. It goes over and becomes docketed.

         22                 Although the docketed cases were only

         23  30 percent of the total number of cases assigned to

         24  ECB in Fiscal 2002, for example, those docketed

         25  cases carry penalties amounting to approximately
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          2  $113 million. So, at this point the total value of

          3  uncollected penalties is approximately $634 million.

          4                 Although I will leave to Finance the

          5  more detailed discussion of the ways in which the

          6  City can improve collections of these outstanding

          7  penalties, I can explain from past experience some

          8  of the characteristics of the underlying violations

          9  that hamper the collection of outstanding penalties.

         10                 First let me explain that Sanitation,

         11  Buildings and Fire Violations, the three categories

         12  of violations, that figure very prominently in the

         13  pool of uncollected penalties.

         14                 For all of these types of violations,

         15  the two main challenges that make the penalty

         16  difficult to collect are as follows: First, finding

         17  the person who was named on the NOV by the issuing

         18  agency; and, second, finding their assets, which can

         19  be used to satisfy the violation.

         20                 Unless the NOV accurately identifies

         21  the person responsible for the violation, the

         22  collection process is extremely difficult.

         23                 To identify parties named on

         24  violations, the City relies on HPD, Department of

         25  Finance files.
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          2                 These databases, while helpful to

          3  some extent, do not always identify the actual

          4  property owners. These databases are designed for

          5  the use of the agencies they support.

          6                 HPD files are intended to identify

          7  the individual or entity responsible for the

          8  physical condition of the property. DOF files are

          9  used primarily for the purpose of collecting taxes.

         10  In both of these cases, the individual is

         11  responsible for the physical condition of the

         12  property, or for the payment of property taxes, may

         13  be individuals other than the property owner, such

         14  as managing agents, building superintendents and

         15  relatives or corporate entities created specifically

         16  to protect the true owners.

         17                 In these cases, collecting violations

         18  becomes more difficult since these parties do not

         19  have the same relationship to the violation as the

         20  property owner.

         21                 Recognizing that it is important to

         22  give notice to appropriate parties, both for legal

         23  purposes and to improve collections, we have worked

         24  with issuing agencies and agencies that maintain

         25  databases, to improve the notice given to the
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          2  responsible parties.

          3                 In 2001, we worked to gain access to

          4  the appropriate HPD and DOF file for the Department

          5  of Buildings and the Fire Department.

          6                 This has resulted in giving agencies

          7  more choices and naming respondents on the

          8  violation.

          9                 More importantly, it allows for these

         10  issuing agencies to give notice to individuals or

         11  entities that may have an interest in the violation.

         12                 We have noted that for DOV

         13  violations, the resolution rate has increased from

         14  78 percent in Fiscal 1999, to 83 percent in Fiscal

         15  2002.

         16                 We attribute this to better notice

         17  and are hopeful that we will be able to find tools

         18  to improve overall collections and resolution for

         19  violations returnable to ECB.

         20                 ECB and DOF face significant

         21  challenges in collecting the outstanding penalties

         22  owed to ECB. At ECB we are fully committed to

         23  cooperating with Commissioner Start and her staff

         24  and improving the way we collect outstanding

         25  penalties.
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          2                 Thank you very much for the

          3  opportunity to testify.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Ms.

          5  McCarthy.

          6                 We'll hear from Commissioner Stark

          7  before we get to ask any questions of the panelists,

          8  but we've been joined by our Majority Whip Council

          9  Member Leroy Comrie of Queens.

         10                 Welcome.

         11                 Commissioner Stark.

         12                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Good morning,

         13  Chairperson Weprin, and Chairperson Brewer, and the

         14  honorable members of the Finance Committee and

         15  Select Committee on Technology and Government.

         16                 Thank you for allowing me to testify

         17  today on the Finance Department's effort to collect

         18  outstanding debt, stemming from fines adjudicated by

         19  the Environmental Control Board.

         20                 I agree with this Committee and the

         21  Comptroller that in a time of fiscal turmoil, it is

         22  more important than ever for Finance to do

         23  everything it can to collect every cent owed the

         24  City.

         25                 This is an obligation that this
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          2  Administration takes very seriously in good economic

          3  times and bad.

          4                 In fact, I have made debt collection

          5  one of the agency's top priorities by creating a new

          6  division focused solely on collection and data

          7  management, which Michael Phillips, who is sitting

          8  to my right, now leads.

          9                 Some of you probably know Michael

         10  from his work on parking issues, where he helped us

         11  achieve a terrific collection rate on parking debt,

         12  in part by working with the issuing agencies,

         13  including the New York Police Department, to improve

         14  the possibility of the summonses they issue.

         15                 He's going to build on this success

         16  with Environmental Control Board and other debt and

         17  spearhead the agency's efforts to better manage its

         18  data.

         19                 I am pleased that this joint session

         20  is being held because collections is inextricably

         21  linked to data and technology.

         22                 A successful collections requires

         23  good data, and this is an area in which Finance must

         24  improve.

         25                 We're going to be working closely
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          2  with George Mark, who is our Acting Assistant

          3  Commissioner for Management Information Systems, to

          4  begin to make long-needed changes to our data system

          5  that will make it easier for us to maximize that

          6  collection.

          7                 Historically debt referred to us by

          8  the Environmental Control Board has been among the

          9  most difficult for us to collect. I'm happy to

         10  report that over the last several months, Finance

         11  has made significant progress in this area, and we

         12  are putting new measures in place that will help us

         13  make even more progress in the coming months and

         14  years, and that's in part attributable to the work

         15  that the Comptroller did and the suggestions that

         16  were made in his audit.

         17                 We can do better, and working closely

         18  with ECB and other City agencies that actually issue

         19  these violations, we will do better.

         20                 Let me take a few moments to answer

         21  the questions that you sent to us which correspond

         22  to the recommendations made in the Comptroller's

         23  June 2002 audit.

         24                 The first recommendation suggested

         25  that Finance obtain and review computer tapes from
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          2  ECB concerning AVPS cases. The acronym, AVPS, is a

          3  hold-over earlier computer system, denotes

          4  violations that do not require the respondent to

          5  take corrective action. I'm hoping that maybe this

          6  Committee could help us come up with some better

          7  acronyms as well.

          8                 I'm pleased to report that Finance

          9  has indeed obtained these tapes from ECB. In

         10  November we asked our vendor, Dunn and Bradstreet,

         11  to use these tapes to mail notices to debtors, thus,

         12  following another of the Comptroller's

         13  recommendations. Finance collected $750,000 from

         14  this mailing alone, which was 50 percent more than

         15  we had predicted last June.

         16                 However, I would like to point out

         17  that a significant number of the letters that Dunn

         18  and Bradstreet sent came back as undeliverable.

         19                 This month, Finance added 200,000

         20  AVPS Sanitation violations into our system, from

         21  which we will generate dunning notices.

         22                 If necessary, we will refer these

         23  cases to an outside collection agency as well.

         24                 Finance has made significant strides

         25  on the other major category of ECB cases known as
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          2  BARAMIS cases. BARAMIS, another acronym for another

          3  old computer system, represents cases that do

          4  require, they do require the respondent to take

          5  corrective action.

          6                 Through November, collections on

          7  BARAMIS cases have risen 70 percent over the same

          8  period last fiscal year, and we're confident that

          9  they will continue to rise.

         10                 Just a couple of quick statistics for

         11  you. In the period of July, basically Fiscal Year

         12  2001, July through November of 2000, we collected

         13  $331,000 basically for ECB debt. In 2002 we actually

         14  increased that percentage significantly, and that's

         15  prior to my arrival there, so I should say that the

         16  Department was already taking this seriously, and

         17  collected $1.7 million.

         18                 And this I will take credit for, in

         19  July 2002 through November 2002, we have already

         20  collected almost $3 million, a 70 percent increase

         21  over 2002 and are pleased to say more than 790

         22  percent increase over 2001.

         23                 Finance took the recommendation to

         24  improve its communication with ECB very seriously.

         25  The monthly reports we provide to ECB on so-called
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          2  manual cases, which are cases that ECB did not track

          3  before fiscal year 2002, now contain more

          4  comprehensive information detailing items such as

          5  the number of hazardous material, right-to-know and

          6  single room occupancy cases received.

          7                 We have also set up a unit

          8  specifically devoted to ECB debt collection within

          9  our newly formed collections and data management

         10  division.

         11                 Finance has also worked with the Law

         12  Department to improve collection on ECB cases as was

         13  recommended by the audit.

         14                 Currently the Law Department provides

         15  status reports on cases referred by Finance's Office

         16  of Legal Affairs, in order to more accurately track

         17  these cases we have asked the Law Department to

         18  segregate them in reports it provides to us.

         19                 In coordinating this collection

         20  effort with ECB, occasionally we discover instances

         21  in which the data on our computer systems do not

         22  match to ECB's data.

         23                 At times this has led to unnecessary

         24  collection effort on cases that have previously been

         25  paid or dismissed.
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          2                 To address this problem, Finance has

          3  instituted a monthly reconciliation process that

          4  identifies the discrepancies between the two

          5  systems.

          6                 Finance has also taken steps to

          7  ensure that our vendor properly downloads

          8  information into our system from ECB. We hope and

          9  expect that these steps will eliminate these

         10  discrepancies and wasted effort in the future.

         11                 Finally, Finance now periodically

         12  reviews ECB cases in our system to make sure our

         13  contractor is mailing contractually required dunning

         14  notices. We will conduct our next review within the

         15  coming months.

         16                 We are also looking into other

         17  options to increase collections, including new

         18  software applications to better target collection

         19  efforts, as well as other techniques to induce

         20  payment.

         21                 Finance's NYCServ payment

         22  applications is also equipped now to handle payments

         23  for ECB violations.

         24                 I do want to thank you, again, for

         25  allowing me an opportunity to testify, and together
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          2  with my colleagues here, I'll be happy to answer any

          3  of your questions.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          5  Commissioner. It's always a pleasure to have you

          6  here before the Finance Committee, and you're

          7  accessibility and knowledge is always welcome.

          8                 You were here I think when the

          9  Comptroller testified, regarding collection and

         10  possibly RFP'g the private collection agencies for

         11  the collection of some of the outstanding debt. In

         12  particular he mentioned debt that's been outstanding

         13  for, you know, in some cases ten years or more.

         14                 Has the Department of Finance done

         15  RFP's for private collection of outstanding fines in

         16  the past? And if so, to what extent? And to what

         17  extent have you looked into privatizing collection?

         18                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Let me say a

         19  couple of things. One is, in very many ways we are

         20  actually the private agency for the ECB.

         21                 When ECB cannot collect its debt, it

         22  actually refers it to the agency that's equipped to

         23  do collections, and that's the Department of

         24  Finance.

         25                 Before I take your question exactly,
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          2  I would want to say a couple of things. One is, I

          3  heard some of the commentary earlier. My staff can

          4  collect this debt, and will collect this debt. I

          5  think Council Member Sears mentioned about in what

          6  period of time. I think there is a significant, we

          7  know from the private sector there's a significant

          8  decay rate as the debt gets older for obvious

          9  reasons, and what we want to be able to do, in a

         10  position to do, is focus our energy in the first

         11  three years of collection on improving our

         12  collection rate dramatically in those years, and

         13  then considering are there other ways in order to

         14  get this money collected later.

         15                 That's, of course, after we've swept

         16  the files and made sure that we have the best data

         17  available to us. But Finance is in the best position

         18  to collect this data in the first sort of three

         19  years of it being listed on our books.

         20                 Now, again, I should note for the

         21  record, that ECB holds onto this debt themselves for

         22  awhile. They work it, and as was mentioned in the

         23  testimony, about 120 days after when it's docketed

         24  is when it's given to us. So, by the time Finance

         25  gets it, it's somewhat, already about a year or so
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          2  old, and we would love to get our hands on that debt

          3  sooner.

          4                 On the issuing of an RFP, when we do

          5  that, we would most certainly lump ECB debt in, but

          6  we do not want to do an RFP that's just solely for

          7  ECB debt, it would be for all of our sort of older

          8  debt. We're always open to referring that to

          9  collection agencies, but I have a terrific staff of

         10  people working in my Collections Division, and we

         11  feel like with the right data on the tickets that

         12  are being issued, we can do a better job and will do

         13  a better job on collecting this debt.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Approximately how

         15  many employees do you have assigned?

         16                 Is there a separate unit for

         17  collection in your Division? And about how many

         18  employees do you have dedicated to that?

         19                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I have 100 people

         20  doing collections on all of the various items that

         21  we're collecting from property taxes to the business

         22  taxes to ECB debt, parking debt and the like, and we

         23  have a specific unit that focuses on ECB debt, it's

         24  about eight people.

         25                 And, again, as a total of all of the
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          2  $14 billion that we're collecting, this 600 million,

          3  very, very important to us, but represents a small

          4  percentage at the total that we're collecting.

          5                 I think it's safe to say that having

          6  reorganized the Department, and gotten, basically

          7  our people reenergized about debt collection,

          8  especially in light of the City's current budget

          9  crisis, has been really exciting. Everybody is up

         10  for the task, and I've been sort of meeting with

         11  them regularly to talk about how to increase our

         12  collection rate, not just here but on all the other

         13  debt.

         14                 But we have about 100 people working

         15  in that unit.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, but eight

         17  you said assigned to ECB debt.

         18                 COMMISSIONER STARK: That is correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Has that number

         20  of eight been consistent, or has it fluctuated?

         21                 MR. PHILLIPS: We consolidated the

         22  unit. There is eight now, there probably were a

         23  little less that were working on it before.

         24                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Basically after

         25  the audit -- that was Mike Phillips, by the way.
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          2  What he said is that we have increased the number of

          3  people assigned to ECB debt, since this audit was

          4  done and as we've had resources targeted to it.

          5                 I would add, I did mention Dunn and

          6  Bradstreet is also helping us out in this regard.

          7                 Dunn and Bradstreet is sending a

          8  series of dunning notices for us, as well as

          9  staffing telephones in response to some of this

         10  debt, and that's been incredibly helpful.

         11                 So, we've been able to extend our

         12  arms by using the Dunn and Bradstreet contract.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, and the 100

         14  employees, has that been a consistent number? Or is

         15  that also a number that's fluctuated depending on

         16  the budget situation?

         17                 MR. PHILLIPS: I think in general it

         18  has shed some headcount over the last couple of

         19  years. There hasn't been a significant reduction in

         20  the number of people in collections. Just the usual

         21  attrition that's happened with the City over the

         22  last couple of years.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Chair

         24  Brewer.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.
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          2                 I know that the case resolution rate

          3  in FY 2001 was 68.3 percent. Does that mean that

          4  68.3 percent of ECB cases was paid in full, or

          5  merely decided?

          6                 Crazy people like my husband coming

          7  down and screaming and yelling about his Sanitation,

          8  or was it paid in full?

          9                 MS. McCARTHY: It's actually

         10  resolution, a number of things that go into

         11  resolution regs. It includes any case that's

         12  obviously been resolved, either by dismissal, or in

         13  the Buildings and Fire cases by cure, which is a

         14  finding of violation with a zero penalty, or case

         15  paid. Case finding a violation, case paid or case

         16  admitted and paid.

         17                 So, a lot of the Sanitation cases,

         18  people pay, like they do parking tickets. They'll

         19  pay, just, you know, admit and pay without coming in

         20  for a hearing.

         21                 So, that's included in there also.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         23                 The other question I have, and we'll

         24  come back I think, is I know you have a new IBM

         25  system that is going to be looking at some of these
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          2  issues, and I was just wondering the status of it

          3  and what your hope is for the future?

          4                 I know it has a funny acronym too.

          5                 Do you have a new computer system

          6  that's going to be going on line for ECB?

          7                 MS. McCARTHY: Right. Actually, I

          8  should turn this over to Commissioner Stark, because

          9  it's the NYCServ system that goes across all City

         10  agencies, including the Parking Violations Office

         11  and the Department of Finance.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So, is it in

         13  operation at ECB? Are you still testing it?

         14                 MS. McCARTHY: We're in the final

         15  stages right before implementation.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         17                 MS. McCARTHY: All right. We've

         18  implemented actually the customer service aspect of

         19  it. But there are still some modules that have to go

         20  in place.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. I'll come

         22  back, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Actually, it just

         24  occurred to me, when you do the collection efforts,

         25  does that include late fees or penalties? Are there
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          2  late fees and penalties that are included in the

          3  collections?

          4                 MS. McCARTHY: It's a difficult one to

          5  answer. The short answer is yes, some of it has late

          6  fees, and if they pay after a certain date, there is

          7  a $30 administrative fee that attaches to

          8  sanitation-type cases.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Is there a

         10  possibility of maybe advertising kind of an amnesty

         11  on the late fees, or elimination of the late fees if

         12  people pay within a certain period of time from the

         13  date of a letter, giving them that option, maybe has

         14  a possibility of trying to get, you know, people to

         15  pay the original fine promptly from the date you

         16  requested it?

         17                 Has anybody looked into that

         18  possibility?

         19                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Yes. I would say

         20  a couple of things.

         21                 One is, when we're looking at that

         22  we're going to use every tool that's available to us

         23  in our toolbox, one of the key things that we always

         24  want to keep in mind is, what is the current sort of

         25  payment rate on the debt, and you never want to give

                                                            57

          1  FINANCE AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  up on debt where you actually earn money from the

          3  interest that's collected on it.

          4                 Typically just to use a parking debt

          5  as an example, a significant percent of parking

          6  stuff is paid to us within 18 months. Therefore, we

          7  would never offer an amnesty on parking debt that is

          8  less than 18 months old. The question for us is

          9  always what's the decay rate after 18 months, and

         10  what percentage are you collecting and do you want

         11  to offset on the fees attributable to that?

         12                 We are definitely looking at all of

         13  the debt that's currently on our books to get a

         14  sense of what percent of it comes in after a certain

         15  period of time, and might there be some reason to

         16  offer up, if we waive penalties and interest, would

         17  it be an appropriate time to put that out there.

         18  That's going to be a part of an entire review that

         19  we're looking at on all of our outstanding debt.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, I would

         21  recommend that, because especially in the cases of

         22  outstanding debt for a period of time, it seems to

         23  me it might be an incentive for somebody to pay the,

         24  at least the initial fine, knowing that they're

         25  going to get the penalties and late charges removed.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I think, I'm

          3  sorry to interrupt you, but I think it's a point

          4  that we should take under advisement.

          5                 What happens is, what we want to

          6  ensure is that the amount that the person owes,

          7  $300, isn't actually overwhelmed by that the

          8  interest and penalties that have accrued are $800.

          9  So, while that person might come in and pay you the

         10  $300, $1,100 is just not doable for them.

         11                 So, as part of our analysis, we want

         12  to ensure that, one, we're not really getting

         13  revenue that we're going to otherwise collect, so if

         14  it comes to a one-shot revenue, and the second is,

         15  what percent is the total amount owed represent of

         16  the total compared to penalties and take that under

         17  advisement.

         18                 So, we are looking through our

         19  records on all the debt that we're responsible for

         20  collecting to do that kind of analysis and might

         21  need to come back to this Committee at some date

         22  with a recommendation about that.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         25  Reed.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair.

          4                 I'm, like many of us, trying also to

          5  be present at the other hearing next door. And I'm

          6  glad we're having this hearing, but some of us are

          7  bouncing back and forth.

          8                 And I appreciate, Commissioner Stark,

          9  your testimony, and Ms. McCarthy, I understand this

         10  is a new administration and that we're moving

         11  forward, and obviously from your testimony, there

         12  have been improvements.

         13                 You know, our jobs as Council members

         14  is really to try and find the proper interface

         15  between our constituents and the City and how things

         16  work. Because we, I think my colleagues will agree,

         17  are sort of the first one line of defense, or try to

         18  explain things, and when I'm listening to this, your

         19  testimony, and responsiveness to both this hearing,

         20  as well as the Comptroller's report, nomenclature

         21  becomes very important.

         22                 And when I find myself trying to

         23  explain things to the constituents about why we

         24  can't fix this problem or so and so, and I'm

         25  mentioning these things, right after my eyes glaze
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          2  over, the constituent's eyes glaze over, because

          3  nobody knows what the hell we're talking about.

          4                 And in your testimony, I recognize

          5  that perhaps it probably took you all the while to

          6  figure out what we were talking about, because you

          7  said a lot of these are acronyms that, you know,

          8  carried over from the past, the computer systems

          9  that we don't have anymore reminds me of when I was

         10  a kid and my mother told me she was doing Fortran

         11  (phonetic), I mean that was like the original thing.

         12  So, what is that, mom?

         13                 So, maybe in this process we also

         14  ought to be able to look at making this thing

         15  user-friendly beyond having to have hearings, with

         16  your expertise, to explain what the system is.

         17                 And I'm also delighted that the Chair

         18  of Housing and Buildings is here with us, Council

         19  Member Provenzano, because I'm struck when I look at

         20  the testimony of Ms. McCarthy, and she says in here

         21  about identifying who owns the building and who is

         22  responsible for the violation. I guess there's a

         23  rationale about why, and to some extent I guess I

         24  understand, who owns the building is different from

         25  who is responsible for it. But, you know, that's not
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          2  our problem. That really isn't our problem. That's

          3  the building owner and the building manager's

          4  problem. And for them to use an excuse that we

          5  haven't sent it to the right person, to me just, you

          6  know, adds to the frustration that I think so many

          7  constituents feel about government in trying to

          8  respond, and we're running around playing tag with

          9  these cats that have got lawyers paying entirely too

         10  much money to hide them. And we don't have the

         11  resources or the wherewithal to find them in this

         12  cat and mouse game.

         13                 And if it requires legislation, I

         14  certainly think that the Council would look forward

         15  to working with you to take that responsibility off

         16  of the City.

         17                 I mean, if somebody owns the

         18  building, it ought to be their responsibility to

         19  take care of these fines, period, case closed, that

         20  simple.

         21                 And instead of spending a whole lot

         22  of time and energy hiding themselves behind some

         23  corporation. And I think that you would find that

         24  the public would be very responsive to do that.

         25  Certainly it also requires us then to keep our
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          2  database current.

          3                 But I would certainly like to work

          4  with you to, and, of course, I just want to give

          5  Madeline some more work, so I'm sure her Committee

          6  would look forward to working with you in terms of

          7  identifying that, but that goes across the board to

          8  all these agencies that you say it sounds to me as

          9  sort of a new to this game that this just are

         10  getting piled into ECB. And, so, while we're at it,

         11  in terms of nomenclature, maybe we ought to rename

         12  that because that doesn't make a hell of a lot of

         13  sense to people anyway either.

         14                 Now, you know, not that I have my own

         15  personal pet peeve about cell phones being part of

         16  the ECB, but we won't go there. We'll wait til after

         17  we override the veto, then we'll talk about that

         18  problem.

         19                 But I do think it's time for us to

         20  take a look at it, because, again, I find myself

         21  frustrated trying to explain to my constituents,

         22  again, as I said earlier, with the whole elevator

         23  violations and Buildings, and, you know, it's not a

         24  minor misdemeanor when people cannot -- find

         25  themselves in life-threatening situations because
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          2  there is no elevator, and they've called everybody

          3  they know in the City of New York, they can't get

          4  the damn thing fixed, but they're still supposed to

          5  pay their rent. And I'm trying to explain to them,

          6  well, you see the Environmental Control Board has to

          7  have a hearing. It makes no sense.

          8                 So, I would certainly encourage that

          9  we look at perhaps even separating those pieces out,

         10  and I hope this is a part of -- maybe we need to get

         11  away from that. Maybe we just need to send it right

         12  to the Department of Finance, I don't know.

         13                 But there also needs to be some

         14  responsibility on the part of the agencies, if

         15  that's what's required, to do the proper

         16  identification of who is responsible for this money.

         17  Because once we start collecting it, once the public

         18  gets a sense that the City is working for them, in

         19  making sure this is happening, I think you will see

         20  your rate of payments increase because the word will

         21  be out in the street soon that you have to pay these

         22  damn fines, and maybe it would increase that, as

         23  opposed to people sitting there laughing and

         24  feeling, you know, it's almost stupid to pay.

         25                 And, so, I would like to make sure
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          2  that we as a Council are also helpful in getting the

          3  names, the language, so that regular people

          4  understand it, and that the folks who are not paying

          5  this get a clear sense that we're going to find out

          6  who they are and we're going to get our money back.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          9                 We've also been joined by Council

         10  Member Bill DeBlasio from Brooklyn. Welcome.

         11                 Council Member Mike McMahon had a

         12  question.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chairman, and good morning, Commissioner, and

         15  Executive Director.

         16                 Again, every time you testify, I have

         17  to comment when you talk about people getting

         18  exciting about collecting the ECB debt. We're a very

         19  lucky City to have your leadership at the Department

         20  of Finance.

         21                 The $600 million number has kind of

         22  stuck in everybody's head as outstanding money; how

         23  old is that debt? How far back does that go?

         24                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Maybe, Anne, you

         25  can answer this more quickly.
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          2                 I think it goes back to 1994, if I'm

          3  not mistaken.

          4                 MS. McCARTHY: It's about eight years

          5  old.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Is there a

          7  statute of limitations of six years on these?

          8                 MS. McCARTHY: Eight years after

          9  docketing.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Is the

         11  statute of limitations on that?

         12                 MS. McCARTHY:  For ECB. ECB

         13  judgments, yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And the 600

         15  million, has anybody analyzed that to see how much

         16  of it will we never collect? In other words, how

         17  much of it is bad? Because I imagine a lot of them

         18  are where people defaulted on the summons, so we

         19  don't know if we really put the summons to the right

         20  person, whether it was nailed to the door or handed

         21  to the person, and how much of that debt is good

         22  debt, and how much of that is bad debt.

         23                 MS. McCARTHY: You sort of have hit

         24  the nail on the head here with the outstanding

         25  judgments.
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          2                 ECB talked about resolution rate as

          3  opposed to dollars collected. Because we're

          4  interested, these are cases, a lot of times they

          5  deal with serious health and safety issues, and

          6  we're looking at ways to get compliance. The issuing

          7  agencies are looking at compliance, one way to get

          8  compliance is for people to pay penalties so they

          9  don't do it again.

         10                 So, we're looking, when we see a 70

         11  percent resolution rate, we're happy about that

         12  because that means 70 percent of the people have

         13  come in and participated in the hearing process.

         14  It's the other 30 percent, and in order to bring

         15  them into the hearing process, the Board has

         16  dictated that penalties for failure to appear be the

         17  maximum penalty under the law.

         18                 So, if someone came in for a hearing

         19  on a certain violation, then the normal penalty that

         20  would have been imposed is $350, if they had come in

         21  and were found in violation.

         22                 If they default, it may be $1,000, it

         23  may be $10,000, it may be $25,000. And that is the

         24  default penalty. That's the incentive, that's the

         25  stick to get people to come in and participate in
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          2  the process.

          3                 This $653 million is inflated in that

          4  sense by these default penalties. They are true

          5  penalties imposed by the Board, but nevertheless if

          6  they had participated in the process it would be a

          7  lot lower.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Right. But it

          9  can be that they received the summons and you've got

         10  the right person and they say, well, I'm just going

         11  to be in defiance of the law. It can also be that

         12  the summons was affixed to a door and blew off the

         13  door and the person never got it, or the wrong

         14  person got it; you know what I mean?

         15                 So, I think we have to be wary of,

         16  you know, when we sit here and think, gee, if we

         17  could collect that $600 million, I would suggest

         18  that, and having been in front of the ECB as a

         19  practicing attorney, there are a lot of vagaries

         20  involved. Whether or not the right person's name is

         21  on the ticket, the questions of due process.

         22                 Council member, you can't give

         23  somebody a violation or a summons unless they

         24  receive adequate notice of a pending; so if they

         25  have not received adequate notice, then they have a
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          2  legal fight against it as well.

          3                 So, I wonder if an analysis can be

          4  done to really let us know how much of that is

          5  perceived to be good judgments and how many are bad

          6  judgments, maybe a separate category should be

          7  created, because it is true, the average person, oh,

          8  my God, you see he's not collecting 600 million, and

          9  they want to raise my property taxes -- well, it

         10  could be that of that 600 million, 400 million is

         11  uncollectible.

         12                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I'm sorry, I

         13  think that actually the Comptroller's audit gives

         14  you a good sort of sense of what is actually

         15  collectible of the total. Though in the audit that

         16  was prepared there was a total uncollected revenue

         17  of about 634 million, the Comptroller came back with

         18  26.2 million of that really being what he thought we

         19  could collect through enhanced effort.

         20                 And that's because as he attested to

         21  earlier, he had a private group of people take a

         22  look at the debt that was on the books and

         23  essentially came up with here's what we could do.

         24                 So, I think that it is important. The

         25  point that you're making is important that before we
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          2  start calling it $634 million, we should really look

          3  at what percentage of it is collectible, and 26.2

          4  million is the number that the Comptroller set it

          5  at, and I would just sort of dare say that even some

          6  of that may not be appropriate.

          7                 All of that said, I believe there's

          8  much that we can do to improve the collection rate,

          9  and that's the stuff that Anne was talking about

         10  earlier, to make sure that the tickets are

         11  appropriately written. It's a little bit of what

         12  Council Member Reed started to allude to a moment

         13  ago, about how do you ensure that you have the

         14  correct registered owner. There's lots of

         15  opportunities for us through technology, through the

         16  use of technology and hand-held computers, for the

         17  issuing agents to have maybe a bar code on a

         18  building that lists automatically what, who is the

         19  person liable for that, and we are looking for all

         20  of those opportunities that are available.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: That was my

         22  last question, if I may. Do we have now a mandatory

         23  registration for owners of real property, or was it

         24  only registration to receive a tax bill?

         25                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Basically what I
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          2  would say is, you know, owners are required to tell

          3  us who owns their property, but you know, they do

          4  that through their deeds. I mean, essentially

          5  Finance has at its fingertips adequate information

          6  about who owns which property. We have to do a

          7  better job of making sure our systems, not just

          8  within properties, within Finance talk, but that

          9  they talk well and accurately to all the other

         10  systems in the City of New York.

         11                 That said, we've been talking with

         12  others about the possibility of requiring not just

         13  that we know who the legal owner is, but we have

         14  updated address information about who to mail that

         15  stuff to.

         16                 So, that's going to be an ongoing

         17  effort that we would like, not just because of ECB,

         18  but because when we're mailing out a million notices

         19  to property owners, we want to be sure that they get

         20  it.

         21                 We have a very interesting return

         22  mail project that we're doing on the assessment

         23  notice that we just did, basically headed up by Mike

         24  Phillips. We set up operations now. We're tracking

         25  all return mail that comes to us to figure out what
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          2  the correct address is, and that's been done at

          3  finance in the past and some of the people who I've

          4  been talking to about this said their frustration

          5  has been that no one has done anything.

          6                 So, in the course of the next six

          7  months, after we learn what our return mail rate is,

          8  we're going to go out and update those records

          9  accordingly by contacting people, scanning all of

         10  our sort of files to make sure we have all the right

         11  information, but that's something that we definitely

         12  want to do.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: We spoke

         14  about this last year at a hearing, looking at the

         15  deed (a) can be very complicated; and (b) doesn't

         16  always give you -- I mean, the title can change by

         17  operation of law. There are a lot of things that can

         18  happen and the addresses are not good.

         19                 So, again, I commend you,

         20  Commissioner, I think you're on the right track.

         21  It's not as easy to look at the -- it's the best

         22  place to look but there's a lot of complications I

         23  think on a lot of property, and I wonder if we

         24  shouldn't have some sort of a mandatory

         25  owner/registration law, if anyone asked you to
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          2  consider that, because then you could say that,

          3  okay, now the owner is responsible and they have

          4  been given proper notice, because that's the address

          5  that they had given us.

          6                 COMMISSIONER STARK: You know, again,

          7  I think that any information that doesn't place an

          8  undue burden on taxpayers is useful to do. And if an

          9  owner/registration form does not or could be made a

         10  part of the process, whether it's at buildings, at

         11  Consumer Affairs, when licenses are being issued. I

         12  think the important thing is that, you know, this

         13  Mayor has gotten all of the agencies involved

         14  talking to each other, and we're doing that

         15  respectfully, and hope to come together on how we

         16  each use each other's information, and how we could

         17  make sure we have the best information available to

         18  us.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Commissioner,

         20  maybe I missed this, because, you know, I understand

         21  some of the uncollectibilities related to locating

         22  the owner and changes and, you know, bankruptcies

         23  and other things, but it seems like a huge, huge

         24  number, 608 out of 634 million, assuming the

         25  Comptroller's 26 million is right, which and you say
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          2  maybe lower, so well over $600 million is

          3  uncollectible?

          4                 I mean, what makes it uncollectible?

          5                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I think, again, I

          6  would go back to the testimony that Ms. McCarthy

          7  gave about some of the reasons why.

          8                 One is that a significant amount of

          9  the debt that transferred over to us is debt that

         10  actually they imposed after a default. You know,

         11  there was no dollar amount set for that debt

         12  originally. The person has to come in in order for

         13  them to sort of resolve the debt. So, it's actually

         14  default debt, you know, I would say out of the gate.

         15  So, that's a significant sort of problem.

         16                 And I would remind us that as she

         17  noted in her testimony, a lot of the

         18  building-related debt, their resolution rate is much

         19  higher. It's the debt that, you know, you're walking

         20  down the street and you give someone, you know, a

         21  ticket and you say, by the way, you know, what's

         22  your name, and today Martha Stark wants to be David

         23  Weprin, so I say --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any time.

         25                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Thank you.
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          2                 I say I'm Devito Weprin, and I give a

          3  false address. So, I think that's some of what's in

          4  this pool as well. So, not all of it is

          5  building-related debt, in fact that debt is a little

          6  bit easier to collect because, you're right, you

          7  have the owner of record. It's the sort of other

          8  debt where essentially you're relying on self

          9  reports from people about the dresses, and they

         10  don't often, and they're with it, they actually

         11  don't give you the correct address, even if you

         12  demand ID, there's all of this sort of errors in

         13  writing the tickets that we want to make sure we

         14  minimize the risk of through the use of hand-held

         15  technology, and I would ask Ms. McCarthy to maybe

         16  comment on any other reasons why.

         17                 MS. McCARTHY: Commissioner Stark

         18  certainly hit the nail on the head again with a lot

         19  of the debt is, as I said, default penalties, which

         20  are six to ten times the amount that would have been

         21  posed at the hearing.

         22                 Due to due process considerations,

         23  sometimes there isn't notice. Mike just said to me

         24  that we had gotten a call from Council Member

         25  Lafayette's Office -- Assembly Member Lafayette's
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          2  Office, that a food vendor had given his address, as

          3  the appropriate address. So, this happens also. And

          4  Commissioner Stark is right, it's the

          5  non-property-related violations, which are some of

          6  the DOT violations, some of the littering

          7  violations, where somebody could give a false name

          8  and address, and the vendor violation.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: But you really

         10  think it's that high, though, over 600 out of 634.

         11                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Look, you know,

         12  here's what I would say: If we can collect more, we

         13  are going to collect more, that you have our

         14  commitment to.

         15                 And what we want to do is take a look

         16  at this debt and make sure that we can collect as

         17  much of it as possible, and then early in the

         18  process, so we're not in this trouble later on, find

         19  ways to use technology and identification that gets

         20  us the right information. So, even though, ECB has a

         21  resolution rate of 70 percent, I'd like them to have

         22  a resolution rate of 100 percent and a collection

         23  rate of 70 percent on the debt as soon as it comes

         24  in.

         25                 So, I think what we want to do is, by
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          2  whatever means necessary, figure out how to correct

          3  this.

          4                 That's why I'm pleased to be working

          5  with ECB, other agencies, and Mike Phillips, who did

          6  a terrific job on this in the parking arena.

          7                 Basically, you know, when we are able

          8  to launch a hand-held, automatically it will

          9  populate the fields (sic) in a ticket, making it

         10  less likely to be, one, dismissed when the ECB

         11  judges get it, and secondly, making it easier for us

         12  to get at people who have not paid and have not

         13  complied.

         14                 So, what we want to do, and the point

         15  that you made earlier, the other tool in the tool

         16  box is, all right, if the old stuff is really

         17  terrible, but someone is still worried about it

         18  being docketed, what other opportunities might there

         19  be available for collection, including a possible

         20  amnesty, if that's appropriate.

         21                 So, I think we want to put all of

         22  that on the table and then focus our efforts in the

         23  future on having the best debt on the books so that

         24  we can go after these folks and collect it as

         25  aggressively as possible.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Actually, you

          3  just raised another point that peaked my interest.

          4                 In some of this uncollectible debt,

          5  it might be more appropriate to contract out rather

          6  than to collection agencies per se, but more

          7  investigative agencies, you know, that might have

          8  some of the resources and tools that you don't or

          9  the City doesn't, or normal collection agencies

         10  might not have to actually do the investigation,

         11  especially in larger amounts, as to who the owners

         12  are, what the incident was, what the wrong

         13  information resulted in, depending on the numbers,

         14  and it might pay to at least look into that.

         15                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Just a comment on

         16  that. I mean, I, of course, like you, think about

         17  these issues all the time, and actually, you know,

         18  as was noted before, Council Member McMahon, I get

         19  excited about these issues, my staff thinks I'm a

         20  little crazy as well, but the other possibility is,

         21  I don't want to give you all of our sort of our, you

         22  know, good ideas, is the possibility like we have

         23  with property tax liens to securitize some of this

         24  debt and sell it for some percent of on the dollar

         25  and let folks, you know, take the risk.
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          2                 So, we are open to exploring every

          3  possibility and will leave no stone unturned when it

          4  comes to collecting this money. Can't, you know,

          5  underscore how important it is to this

          6  Administration that we be as aggressive as possible

          7  in getting this money.

          8                 I think that given the courageous

          9  step that the Mayor and the City Council took in

         10  order to balance our budget, it's incumbent on us to

         11  make sure we do all that we can to collect what is

         12  on our books and we will.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         14  Sears.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         16  Thank you, Ms McCarthy, and it's always wonderful to

         17  see you again, really.

         18                 There are just a couple of points I'd

         19  like to make.

         20                 One is that we're talking so much

         21  about the outstanding monies, and these are people

         22  who have received fines. At the same time, many,

         23  many people have received fines and they have paid

         24  them, and they have paid them in good faith. They

         25  may not have liked them but they have. And it seems
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          2  that as we approach budget time, and I'm certainly

          3  not placing you in a corner because I think it's

          4  commendable, the reality of what you're facing and

          5  the fact that you're really implementing and trying

          6  to do certain things.

          7                 Two things: Fines will continue.

          8  People are not going to stop violating the law for

          9  those particularly who are outstanding with them.

         10                 I would think that in those monies

         11  that are outstanding, it would be very interesting

         12  to see how many are multiple fines to one

         13  individual, which means, and not just one fine that

         14  has been compounded by interest and other things.

         15                 So, I think, I would say that within

         16  those numbers these are multiple violators and

         17  repeated over and over again. There's recidivism in

         18  the fine industry.

         19                 As a result, it would seem that in

         20  coordinating, not only the technology with the

         21  various agencies, certainly with buildings and

         22  everything else, that perhaps there might be a time

         23  frame, not for completion, but for some headway in

         24  addressing this issue, that as we are in the budget

         25  process, and so much is based on estimates and
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          2  projections, that we might be faced with a reality

          3  of exactly what you see filling and coming into the

          4  budget. That's very, very key.

          5                 Secondly, and which was my first

          6  point, that we have to send the message out I think

          7  to the people who have paid their fines and continue

          8  to pay them because people do incur fines, whether

          9  it's parking or it's home-owners. Elderly come out

         10  after being in most of the day and find something

         11  and they got a fine for trash that has been somehow

         12  on their property. They pay those fines. They don't

         13  want problems with the City and they don't want

         14  problems with the law, so they pay those fines.

         15                 In the meantime we have absolute

         16  defiance of what's going on, and it seems to me that

         17  even though you are doing this concerted and

         18  coordinated effort, I think we need to have a little

         19  bit more as we approach the budget process. Because

         20  the budget process is a public process, and I think

         21  that we need to have something that shows that we're

         22  really making this dent, and it's also at the same

         23  time the progress you make and timetables that you

         24  have are sending messages out to those who fit into

         25  not only the over 600 million, but in other
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          2  categories as well.

          3                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I appreciate

          4  those points and I agree with you that it's very

          5  important to understand the underlying data that's

          6  in the system, and I think the suggestion about

          7  looking at who are the repeat violators and the

          8  recidivism rate, if you will, is an important one

          9  and we will undertake that.

         10                 ECB may have already, let me just

         11  sort of say one more thing about in the context of

         12  the budget, I agree with you that it's incumbent on

         13  us to know kind of what's out there and what's

         14  really a reasonable and aggressive collection rate

         15  against what's out there. But let me have Ms.

         16  McCarthy answer the recidivism rate.

         17                 MS. McCARTHY: I just wanted to say

         18  that you're very timely. We're going to be looking,

         19  and we're working cooperatively with the Department

         20  of Finance to look at the cases that are unresolved,

         21  the 30 percent of the cases, and we're going to do

         22  an extensive analysis on recidivists, who they are,

         23  where they are, if they're real, the types of

         24  whether it's a problem at the issuing agency,

         25  whether it's a problem with databases, all of that
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          2  is something we're going to be looking at very

          3  shortly.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Do you have

          5  enough staff to do that?

          6                 So, in other words, just to have your

          7  initial dent in this issue, is it something that you

          8  would be able to get a real handle on in a very

          9  short period of time?

         10                 MS. McCARTHY: I think we have

         11  sufficient staff. The people have been there a

         12  number of years, they understand what the process

         13  is. All of ECB's staff is dedicated to helping

         14  identify who these people are and helping to improve

         15  the resolution rate and the collection rate.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And maybe as

         17  you move along you might get some of that

         18  information to us?

         19                 It's very possible that through the

         20  legislative process we may have to deal with that.

         21                 MS. McCARTHY: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         25  Jackson.

                                                            83

          1  FINANCE AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair.

          4                 Good morning. Ms. McCarthy, you spoke

          5  earlier and you explained the process in your

          6  testimony, as far as the process that is used in the

          7  structure of ECB and especially in hearing officers,

          8  determining whether a violation has occurred or not.

          9  And you indicated that the collections are

         10  approximately 70 percent of the total number of

         11  cases assigned.

         12                 Of the 70 percent, or of the cases go

         13  in front of hearing officers, do you know what the

         14  percentages are, as far as sustained versus

         15  dismissed?

         16                 MS. McCARTHY: Now we're getting to

         17  very complicated formulas.

         18                 Seventy percent are cases that are

         19  resolved. A number of those cases are admitted, paid

         20  without going before a hearing officer. So, we have

         21  about 150,000 cases that actually go before hearing

         22  officers, either a live person or as a hearing by

         23  mail. I would guess somewhere around 30,000 of those

         24  are hearings by mail, and 120,000 go before live

         25  hearing officers.
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          2                 Usually people who come in and want

          3  to go before a hearing officer, they feel they have

          4  a case, and, actually, a lot of times they do.

          5                 I would say that of those cases where

          6  they go before a hearing officer, I would say about

          7  30 percent, 30 to 40 percent are actually dismissed

          8  and the other 70 percent, there other 70 percent

          9  there's a finding of violation.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And the

         11  reason why I'm asking this is because, you know, I

         12  understand the purpose of this hearing is to try to

         13  collect as much money as possible that is owed to

         14  the City of New York, but, you know, all politics

         15  are local, and many home-owners in my community are

         16  complaining about being summonsed for litter on

         17  their property when they're sweeping, and I'm going

         18  to be focusing on that specifically with the

         19  Commissioner of Sanitation, but I was just curious

         20  as to, of the 70 percent you said about 120,000

         21  actually go before the hearing officer and about 30,

         22  40 percent of those are dismissed.

         23                 Do you have any statistics as to the

         24  30 percent that go, 30,000 that go by mail?

         25                 MS. McCARTHY: It's actually, I
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          2  believe, a little higher on the dismissal rate

          3  because --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: By mail?

          5                 MS. McCARTHY: By mail, because a lot

          6  of times people, if there has been a mix-up with the

          7  ownership information, that all is done through a

          8  hearing by mail process, so in other words, if the

          9  Department of Sanitation has named John Brown, and

         10  Joe Smith is the owner of the property currently,

         11  John Brown has a defense and he just sends in his

         12  deed saying, oh, I sold this property.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, as far as

         14  even the issuing officers from the various agencies,

         15  and if you see that a dismissal rate is so high

         16  based on technicalities, do you communicate with the

         17  appropriate agencies?

         18                 MS. McCARTHY: Yes, we do.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And is there

         20  joint training, or does your staff give training to

         21  the enforcement officers as to how they should be

         22  improving their work out in the field?

         23                 MS. McCARTHY: We certainly give

         24  information back to the issuing agencies, and it's

         25  the issuing agencies themselves who take that
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          2  information and do the training.

          3                 ECB is the impartial arbiter, is not

          4  really going to sit there and train officers on how

          5  to better issue violations, but all of that

          6  information is given to the issuing agencies and

          7  they do it themselves.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, we've been

         10  joined by Margarita Lopez from Manhattan.

         11                 Welcome, Chair Brewer.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         13  much. I know that Commissioner Stark talked about

         14  the hand-held, so I wanted to know when they might

         15  be seen.

         16                 I think a lot of work, of course, is

         17  done by the Administrative Judges, per diems, as

         18  well as for folks who are on staff, and I was just

         19  wondering, to make their job one in which they can

         20  collect as much as possible, what is the technology

         21  that is currently availed to them?

         22                 Do they have the Internet? Do they

         23  have Intranet? Do they use the AIMS System?  Do they

         24  have e-mail?

         25                 And when might NYCServ, you know,
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          2  which was mentioned earlier, actually be available,

          3  and what kind of training and how much did it cost.

          4                 MR. MORAN: Hi. My name is Mike Moran.

          5  I'm the Deputy Director. Thank you for having me

          6  here today.

          7                 The NYCServ component for ECB is

          8  divided into two categories. The first is now

          9  implemented, which the customer service component,

         10  which is of great help to all of our employees; the

         11  second is the adjudications.

         12                 The adjudications will be up, I would

         13  suspect, in the summer of this year.

         14                 One of the useful things, though,

         15  that has come out of the NYCServ project is that we

         16  now have terminals in each of the hearing rooms, so

         17  we do have Intranet access.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Internet?

         19                 MR. MORAN: Intra.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Intra.

         21                 MR. MORAN: We have nyc.gov. And one

         22  of the things we've discovered is that, as part of

         23  that there is a fountain of information that is very

         24  useful to the administrative law judges.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So there is one
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          2  per office, Intranet?

          3                 MR. MORAN: One per hearing room.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Hearing room.

          5                 MR. MORAN: And, for example, nyc.gov

          6  has the zoning maps which is useful in general

          7  vendor and food vendor.

          8                 It also has the routing schedule for

          9  the Department of Sanitation, so if someone comes in

         10  and makes a claim and says I wasn't scheduled for

         11  this time, we can now actually look at the system as

         12  opposed to getting up and looking, getting out of

         13  the room and getting that information.

         14                 So, it's both the service to the

         15  Administrative Law Judges, as well as the

         16  respondent, because we can answer questions right

         17  away. So, NYCServ has been useful. In terms of the

         18  budget I really couldn't tell you. ECB has been a

         19  very, very active role in the NYCServ process, but

         20  we haven't been involved in the budgeting.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         22                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I just should say

         23  about NYCServ, as you know, Council Member Brewer,

         24  NYCServ project was actually spearheaded in a

         25  project that enabled us to bring lots of different
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          2  agencies into our system, composed of a system

          3  that's our payment part of it where we can now

          4  accept Consumer Affairs payments, ECB payments,

          5  water payments, all through our payment centers in

          6  New York, and NYCServ basically is a system reading

          7  all of those legacy files, as they're called.

          8                 And just ECB, the staff referred to

          9  the adjudications component, and that's important

         10  for us on the parking side, basically scanning in

         11  all tickets immediately, and the Judge will have

         12  basically at their disposal, rather than having to

         13  flip through paper, the ability to look at a file on

         14  an electronic screen in front of them.

         15                 NYCServ in total, and I'm going to

         16  probably get these numbers not quite correct. A huge

         17  project for us that cost a little bit over $100

         18  million to build, and, you know, sort of building,

         19  as well as the maintenance of the system over the

         20  next six or so years, and thus far has been really

         21  incredibly useful. We're still working out some of

         22  the times when it goes down in the payment centers

         23  and it creates a little bit of a problem, but it was

         24  really a joint problem of many, many agencies and

         25  were proud to launch it last year.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

          3                 Now, the Administrative Judges who

          4  are going to be using this, have they been trained

          5  on this system? What's the status of them and the

          6  manual?

          7                 And I think it's an IBM? Is it an IBM

          8  contract? How long are they going to be around? I've

          9  worked a lot in systems, and sometimes when they

         10  disappear then some of the kinks have not been

         11  worked out, you have a problem.

         12                 MR. MORAN: I'll leave the second part

         13  of your question to Commissioner Stark.

         14                 The first question is that we've

         15  identified sort of in a step-by-step process how

         16  we're going to have to do the training.

         17                 The first step was, can you type, can

         18  you use the mouse?

         19                 Those ALJs have been identified, and

         20  we're conducting training with them by putting the

         21  machines in their office and showing them how to use

         22  it.

         23                 The second phase of it will be a

         24  train the trainer component, where we will have

         25  Administrative Law Judges who are more senior say,
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          2  go in and train the other ALJs on how to use the

          3  NYCServ system.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Peer training.

          5                 MR. MORAN: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

          7                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Just on the how

          8  long is MIS around -- I'm sorry, how long is IMB

          9  around, and what happens thereafter.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Yes.

         11                 COMMISSIONER STARK: A couple of

         12  things. One is, it strikes us often times that we

         13  build systems and then our staff are not intimately

         14  involved.

         15                 One of the things that we want to do

         16  at Finance is have more of our MIS people

         17  understanding the new programming and making sure

         18  that they're up to speed.

         19                 In the interim we've also entered

         20  into a contract with AMS to take over the

         21  maintenance --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: AMS?

         23                 COMMISSIONER STARK: AMS, the American

         24  Management Systems.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Yes.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER STARK: To take over the

          3  maintenance of the NYCServ system. In part because

          4  what we can do is have our staff and AMS staff being

          5  trained by IBM before they leave, so we'll be able

          6  to then make updates to the system and before IBM

          7  leaves and there are any kinds.

          8                 I mean, I think the important thing

          9  is that once they leave the system in place, we want

         10  to be able to make any upgrades and improvements

         11  ourselves, without having to contract again with

         12  them to come back in.

         13                 So, momentarily AMS is going to take

         14  over maintenance of the NYCServ system as we

         15  basically have IBM move aside, and our MIS staff

         16  will also be there learning the system as well.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: All right. So,

         18  what we'll hand up in the end is that each

         19  Administrative Judge, both in their office and on

         20  the floor and in the hearing room, I guess in the

         21  hearing room, we'll have all the PC that will have

         22  this NYCServ on it, and there will also be a PC in

         23  the hearing room that will have Intranet or will

         24  Intranet also be on their PC?

         25                 MR. MORAN: It's one in the same.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. So, it will

          3  all be one terminal, okay.

          4                 And did these Administrative Judges

          5  have any input into the system?

          6                 MR. MORAN: Extensive.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Extensive.

          8                 MR. MORAN: We had a whole series of

          9  meetings with IBM and with the Department of

         10  Finance, and what we brought was subject matter

         11  experts into those meetings who were Administrative

         12  Law Judges, were senior staff at ECB who had been

         13  familiar with the hearings.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And if the

         15  manuals need updating before IBM leaves, is that

         16  done by AMS or by the Environmental Control Board or

         17  by the Department of Finance? They do need updating.

         18  They're not understandable.

         19                 I know that as a fact.

         20                 MR. MORAN: Which documents are you

         21  talking about?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: All the manuals

         23  that IBM put together. Martha Stark knows that

         24  they're not understandable.

         25                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Well, I guess I
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          2  would say that they're not understandable,

          3  definitely not to lawyers, and clearly not to lay

          4  people.

          5                 One of the things that we're going to

          6  do -- or to Council Member Lopez. In any event, one

          7  of the things that we said we were going to do and

          8  work on with MIS, AMS and IBM is updating of those

          9  manuals, so that they make sense to the general

         10  public and the people who are following them.

         11                 That's something that, you know, I

         12  think that computer people always write this

         13  language in a way that's not easily understandable,

         14  and it's important for those who are going to have

         15  the system that we able to update them.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         17                 And then on just one small issue, the

         18  Single Room Occupancy cases, I know SROs well, I

         19  just want to understand what the adjudication of

         20  this manual tracking; how does that work, and why is

         21  it manually done?

         22                 MR. MORAN: It's done manually because

         23  the Department of Health, when they do an

         24  inspection, they use a form that goes out and

         25  typically identifies 50, 100 or maybe even more
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          2  violations, and they prefer to put it on one single

          3  piece of paper.

          4                 The ECB tracking system is designed

          5  to track one violation and one infraction. So, it

          6  doesn't suit itself very well to handling that type

          7  of violation.

          8                 Also, there are very few of those

          9  violations relative to the rest of the violations

         10  ECB processes. If there is 100 a year that would be

         11  a lot.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Right. And what's

         13  the timetable on hand-held?

         14                 Obviously resources are relevant.

         15                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I just would say,

         16  the first place where we're actually using and

         17  launching hand-helds is in the NYPD for parking

         18  violations.

         19                 I think what we're going to do is

         20  wait and see how that project goes, and then several

         21  other agencies have expressed an interest in

         22  hand-held technology in utilizing it.

         23                 Basically NYPD and our Department

         24  have been working very closely on the parking side

         25  and we're hopeful that -- there was a pilot run for

                                                            96

          1  FINANCE AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  about six months on the hand-helds, the traffic

          3  enforcement people were thrilled with each of those

          4  two pilot projects were, the hand-helds were able to

          5  produce. I believe they're in the process now of

          6  selecting among those vendors, and we're hoping that

          7  we'll have those hand-helds out on the street for

          8  traffic people some time in the Fiscal Year 2004.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And then,

         10  finally, I guess this is part of the overall

         11  training, but how will they aim a system which we're

         12  using now, I think, to try to integrate, how will

         13  that be replaced by the NYCServ?

         14                 Is that something AMS will work on,

         15  IBM works on, you work on? Who actually does that.

         16                 MS. McCARTHY: Actually the AIMS

         17  system is not being replaced, and NYCServ is a

         18  system that lays on top of all the legacy systems,

         19  and AIMS is one of the legacy systems, so it's

         20  taking the information from the AIMS system.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay, thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         23  Lopez.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you for

         25  coming to the hearing.
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          2                 I was looking forward for this

          3  hearing, and I want to thank both chairs for putting

          4  it together.

          5                 The reason I am interested in this

          6  subject, it had to do with Con Edison, and I am

          7  interested in knowing if Con Edison fall under your

          8  jurisdiction, and all of the other electrical

          9  companies or gas companies, and the reason I want to

         10  know that is because this particular company, in

         11  particular Con Edison in my case, which is in my

         12  district, affecting the life of the people of my

         13  district, in good ways and bad ways, are constantly,

         14  in my opinion, violating laws that are here, and

         15  they continue to violate those laws, like, you know,

         16  it's okay to violate them because there's no

         17  consequences on it, and one of the things that I

         18  wanted to know from the Finance Department is what

         19  is the procedure and where they are, in collecting

         20  monies from them, in terms of all of the violations

         21  that they accumulate year-in and year-out.

         22                 One of the things that I can mention

         23  to you right now, for example, is in my district, in

         24  14th Street in the last year two serious fires

         25  happened, very serious with explosion included in
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          2  that plan. To this day we have never known what had

          3  happened in there.

          4                 In the first fire people were

          5  evacuated from that entire area. That serious. It

          6  continued to be a problem, it continued to be issues

          7  around that plan in there, and I can name to you,

          8  for example, how old the surface roads and on the

          9  area of the plan constantly sickened (sic), and the

         10  reason is that the pipes that are over there, part

         11  of the steampipes, that create this whole dynamic,

         12  they go in and out, making holes in the community,

         13  patch up the hole. I know that they are in violation

         14  of the way that they patch up the hole, and I also

         15  know the violations are not issued.

         16                 Then I want to know how you are

         17  handling that particular company, which I know is

         18  costing us money, but making plenty of money from

         19  us?

         20                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Just a couple of

         21  things. One is that I actually do not know how many

         22  Con Edison cases are included in our books right

         23  now. I'm not certain, I gather from Ms. McCarthy

         24  shaking her head, whether or not they are covered by

         25  any of the rules that are currently issued.
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          2                 Second, I like you would be

          3  interested in what happens after there's a serious

          4  fire and what the issuing agencies typically will,

          5  you know, sort of impose against the company. I

          6  don't know the answer to that, but we can definitely

          7  check in with some of our colleagues and get back to

          8  you with that information.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It would be

         10  good to know.

         11                 And let me tell you one more thing.

         12  The fire where people were evacuated, the homes of

         13  people who live on Haven Plaza, were filled up

         14  inside of the apartment with dark dust that went in

         15  when that explosion occurred.

         16                 And the explosion created a series of

         17  problems on the children of that complex, where they

         18  were not able to sleep at night, due to being afraid

         19  of the explosion that happened in there, connected

         20  to September 11th. I mean, the group of childrens

         21  (sic) in there have gone through some traumatic

         22  experience with Con Edison over time. And right

         23  there I know that environmental impact occurred due

         24  to that explosion, and I want to know what DEP had

         25  done about that? My office had requested
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          2  information, I never got nothing.

          3                 MS. McCARTHY: We'll have to get back

          4  to you on, in particular, you want to know what DEP

          5  has done?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No. What I

          7  really want to know, I'm going to tell you very

          8  clear. At this point I don't want anything to do any

          9  more about what DEP did, environmental agency, in

         10  the level of the state, in regard to Con Edison. You

         11  know, honestly, I'm sick and tired of it.

         12                 What I want to know is, how the City

         13  is going to make this particular company to pay the

         14  City the damage that they create? Because they make

         15  plenty of profit, plenty, and beyond belief. Then at

         16  this point, for example, I want to know what the

         17  Finance Department of the City of New York, how

         18  Commissioner Start can be empowered to collect the

         19  monies that they are making, also spend, because we

         20  would not spend the money if they don't create the

         21  problem. They create the problem.

         22                 I want to know how we are collecting

         23  those dollars, if we are issuing fines to them? If

         24  we are issuing fines to them, and I'm not just

         25  talking about Con Edison, I'm talking about all of
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          2  them.

          3                 Because I know that what happened in

          4  my neighborhood has happened everywhere. I want to

          5  know if it's fined in there, how much money are we

          6  talking about? How much money have not been

          7  collected? And how much money we can collect if we,

          8  too, whatever system we have? But that is a

          9  particular place that nobody can argue to me that we

         10  cannot put a structure together that can collect

         11  this morning, because we know who they are, we know

         12  the name of the company and the responsible parties,

         13  then it doesn't confront the problems that you said

         14  in your testimony, that sometimes you can identify

         15  the principal party, et cetera, et cetera. Know that

         16  is a problem in here.

         17                 Then you need to tell us what is the

         18  status of this in order for us to see if we have to

         19  legislate, and get the solution to it.

         20                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Absolutely,

         21  Council member.

         22                 Again, what I think we would want to

         23  do first and foremost is to find out, since neither

         24  the Environmental Control Board or Finance are the

         25  issuing agencies, under those circumstances, what
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          2  typically is issued, and then you are absolutely

          3  right, if they do issue violations, then we can get

          4  back to you on how, what percent of that has been

          5  paid, what has not, and if they do not issue

          6  violations, and I think it does raise a good

          7  question about whether or not we want to have in

          8  front of us the opportunity to ask every time there

          9  is an incident such as this, that certain violations

         10  be issued.

         11                 But we'd like to have an opportunity

         12  to go back and talk with our colleagues about what's

         13  currently done.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I can tell you

         15  that violations are issued for them. I can tell you

         16  that for sure I know that. And I know that the

         17  Department of Transportation issue violations for

         18  them, because they violate the law in terms of

         19  permits that they have to have in order to open the

         20  roads, and they constantly open the roads and never

         21  close it right.

         22                 And on top of that, when they do

         23  that, they do it in violation of not having the

         24  permit in place. Then I know that this is happening

         25  in terms of that, for example, and I also know that
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          2  the Fire Department issue violations to them, but

          3  what I also know is that these monies are not being

          4  collected. That I also know.

          5                 I want to know what is your

          6  participation in putting this together and make it

          7  happen. And I want to know how much of the $634

          8  million is of them?

          9                 COMMISSIONER STARK: I think I hear

         10  you loud and clear, and we will take a look at our

         11  records and see if we can figure out exactly how

         12  much of it is attributable to Con Ed and get back to

         13  you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It's not just

         15  Con Edison. I just mention Con Edison because I have

         16  a special love affair with them. You know, we adore

         17  each other. But it's all of them because I know that

         18  this problem had to be the same everywhere else, in

         19  Queens, in Brooklyn, in everywhere else, where the

         20  other companies are.

         21                 Then on my last question. I read your

         22  testimony about the problem identifying the parties

         23  responsible for Finance to be able to collect the

         24  money and you adjudicate the violation. I see this.

         25                 But my question is, even if we don't
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          2  know the party who is ultimately responsible, we do

          3  know the agents, correct? The agents who represent

          4  those parties responsible for the properties, for

          5  example?

          6                 I'm referring to the last part of

          7  your testimony, page five.

          8                 MS. McCARTHY: Right. It's even before

          9  the collections process. It's the identification of

         10  the person when they issue the Notice of Violation

         11  by the issuing agency. That's what the issue is.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then if you

         13  have a way of identifying the name of the agent

         14  representing the owner, this issue would be

         15  resolved.

         16                 MS. McCARTHY: If the issuing agency

         17  has a choice of several individuals that they can

         18  name under the law, as a responsible party, yes,

         19  let's say could be the owner, the managing agent, as

         20  a person responsible for a premises.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But what is the

         22  problem that you're confronting, according to your

         23  testimony?

         24                 MS. McCARTHY: The problem that was

         25  existing was the proper identification through a lot
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          2  of the databases, through the age of the records.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: At the

          4  property.

          5                 MS. McCARTHY: Of the individual

          6  responsible for committing the violation.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I'm not

          8  understanding.

          9                 MS. McCARTHY: I know.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I'm sorry.

         11                 MS. McCARTHY: No, I'll try to make

         12  this as clear as possible.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay.

         14                 MS. McCARTHY: When the Department of

         15  Sanitation, for instance, goes out and they see a

         16  condition on the sidewalk, and it's related to the

         17  property, and so they want to name the owner of the

         18  property as responsible for creating the condition,

         19  they have to go back and look up in HPD and the

         20  Department of Finance records who the individual

         21  responsible is.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         23                 MS. McCARTHY: And if that data is not

         24  particularly correct, then there's a problem in

         25  identifying who that person is.
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          2                 We've been working with the

          3  Department of Finance and HPD and other agencies to

          4  make sure that that data is correct, so you have the

          5  right person right out of the box, and that is what

          6  we were trying to say.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. Can you

          8  tell me what you have done so far in putting

          9  together a system that is going to correct that

         10  data?

         11                 MS. McCARTHY: Well, it's not EDC's

         12  sole responsibility.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand.

         14                 MS. McCARTHY: It's the adjudicator of

         15  this. But the Administration certainly has

         16  recognized this and they've done a number of things

         17  to deal with this. Part of it is pulling together,

         18  essentially the administration, they've pulled

         19  together a Committee to look at the issuing issues,

         20  the issuing agency issues, including identification,

         21  proper identification of individuals, and there are

         22  a number of things that the Administration, I feel a

         23  little uncomfortable about testifying on their

         24  behalf --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, I don't
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          2  want to put you in that situation.

          3                 MS. McCARTHY: No, I'm just saying

          4  that there have been things that the Administration

          5  has done to improve the identification of persons,

          6  and ECB has always been a participant in that

          7  process.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, the

          9  reason I ask the question is because I'm trying to

         10  figure out, from the side of the Council, how we can

         11  help to put in place a mechanism that will end this

         12  problem once and for all.

         13                 You know, this issue is an old issue

         14  in the City, in which we are constantly trying to

         15  figure out who is the responsible party for the

         16  property.

         17                 And I said to you, because 25 years

         18  ago I was a housing activist, and in order for me to

         19  find out who was the owner of a particular property,

         20  it was a nightmare. And the only purpose of finding

         21  that out was to make the responsible owner to put a

         22  lock on the front door for the security of the

         23  parents. It's just something as simple as that.

         24                 Then this is an issue that is very

         25  old, and I also think that we should continue
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          2  carrying out this issue, particularly when now, you

          3  know, technology has developed to a point that by

          4  one finger, you just put the identification number

          5  in the IRS for the building in question that have to

          6  pay taxes, and somebody have to appear in there as

          7  responsible for that property, and I don't see why

          8  we cannot issue the collection of money directly to

          9  that particular party, and how the Administration to

         10  get to a point in which they can acquire that quick

         11  way of technology giving that information to them.

         12  That that's the reason I was asking.

         13                 Okay, I thank both of you, and

         14  Commissioner Stark, I think that you are great, and

         15  that you're doing a great job. Keep collecting money

         16  for us, please.

         17                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Thank you so

         18  much.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It's very

         20  important.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: There's another

         22  hearing coming in at 1:00, and we have one more

         23  witness, so if there are no further questions for

         24  these witnesses, we want to thank you very much for

         25  coming and for your candid and open testimony and we
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          2  look forward to a continuing dialogue on this issue

          3  a it progresses.

          4                 COMMISSIONER STARK: Thank you for the

          5  opportunity to appear before you. We appreciate it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 MS. McCARTHY: Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The next witness

         10  is William A. Swezey, II, from Data Management

         11  Internationale.

         12                 MR. SWEZEY: Good afternoon. I

         13  appreciate the opportunity to be here. This is my

         14  first testimony, so I hope you'll forgive any small

         15  errors in protocol.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Welcome.

         17                 MR. SWEZEY: And I didn't bring a team

         18  with me either.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Welcome.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Do you have any

         21  written testimony?

         22                 MR. SWEZEY: I just got the brief this

         23  morning, so, I'm sorry, I don't.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, do you have

         25  any statement you want to make?
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          2                 MR. SWEZEY: Well, I can certainly at

          3  least let the Council know why I think I'm here.

          4                 Data Management Internationale, the

          5  company I work, I'm actually the VP of technology,

          6  I'm not president as it states there in the minutes,

          7  we process, we currently process the tickets for ECB

          8  that are written by the various agencies. We do that

          9  at our facility in Williamington Delaware, and we've

         10  been doing that since March or April of last year.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I'm sorry, can

         12  you describe that process?

         13                 Is there a situation where somebody

         14  gets the Sanitation summons and then it is inputted

         15  in your company?

         16                 MR. SWEZEY: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Can you describe

         18  the whole process?

         19                 MR. SWEZEY: I'm not too much in

         20  production, but I'll talk about it the best I know.

         21                 We get the tickets on a daily basis,

         22  and I think they come to us from ECB.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: How do they come,

         24  on a tape?

         25                 MR. SWEZEY: No, they're actually, we
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          2  actually get the physical tickets, and they're

          3  actually prepared in batches for us. And I think the

          4  batches correspond to the different agencies that

          5  actually write the tickets.

          6                 We process them in those batches. We

          7  actually scan the documents in. So we're actually

          8  handling the physical documents. We scan them in at

          9  one central location, because once we've got them

         10  electronic, then they can be distributed to our data

         11  entry workers.

         12                 We can also use software to try to

         13  read some of the data off of the tickets.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So where are your

         15  data entry workers located?

         16                 MR. SWEZEY: We have data entry

         17  operators in several locations. Most of them are at

         18  our facility in Wilmington Delaware. We have some at

         19  our office in Ghana. We also have some facilities in

         20  Mexico. Basically they're all over the world, that's

         21  to try to lower our costs, as well as protect the

         22  interests of our company and our clients by not

         23  having a single location where we do the work.

         24  Although, I think all of your work is handled, all

         25  of the ECB work, I think is handled at our
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          2  Wilmington location.

          3                 We're able to read a lot of the

          4  tickets via software, and just handle the errors

          5  that occur.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And once you get

          7  this information into some kind of a database, how

          8  did you actually convey it to ECB?

          9                 MR. SWEZEY: Okay. We actually have a

         10  courier that comes to the ECB offices once a day. So

         11  we pick up tickets on a daily basis. Once we do the

         12  data entry and quality control on the data, we

         13  create a tape, computer tape that's returned along

         14  with that batch of tickets, that then is uploaded I

         15  guess into one of their systems, whose acronyms I

         16  can't remember.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. And that

         18  computer tape is conveyed via a computer from

         19  Wilmington, Delaware to ECB?

         20                 MR. SWEZEY: It's actually conveyed by

         21  courier.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: By courier. Back

         23  by courier.

         24                 MR. SWEZEY: Yes. We certainly could

         25  transmit the data but that's --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: It seems to me

          3  they do it electronically; no?

          4                 MR. SWEZEY: Sure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And it's not --

          6                 MR. SWEZEY: It's not voluminous, if

          7  that's what you were getting at. Yes, it could be an

          8  e-mail attachment, really, for all the data I think

          9  it is.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And do you know

         11  why that's not done, out of curiosity?  No.

         12                 MR. SWEZEY: It was the spec.

         13                 I'm sure part of the reason I was

         14  brought was as kind of a technology person. It seems

         15  to me, for what it's worth, since I'm here, that

         16  really there's kind of two things that the Council

         17  maybe needs to address.

         18                 One is, certainly all this money that

         19  seems to be sitting out there, that I'm sure the

         20  City would love to get its hands on, and that's kind

         21  of over and done, as far as going forward I think it

         22  would be a useful exercise, and it sounds like

         23  Department of Finance has done some of this and ECB

         24  has done some of this, to perform a root cause

         25  analysis to see why is so much ending up in this
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          2  pool of uncollected and how do we solve that going

          3  forward.

          4                 It would be real interesting to see,

          5  you know, is it mostly home-owners, is it mostly

          6  corporations? As Council Member Lopez said, what

          7  makes up this big pool of money and then attack the

          8  problem that way so that it doesn't exacerbate going

          9  forward and get any worse.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Do you know other

         11  jurisdictions? Do you obviously accompany works on

         12  where there is more technology used than perhaps

         13  what's going on in New York?

         14                 MR. SWEZEY: There are some places

         15  that we're working with that are experimenting with

         16  other types of technologies.

         17                 I heard testimony about hand-helds

         18  you're looking at. Certainly that's a technology

         19  which can affect the data collection portion. I

         20  don't know that that's necessarily the portion that

         21  needs addressing.

         22                 Again, a root cause analysis would

         23  kind of help to determine that. Is it the data

         24  collection that's at fault or some other part of the

         25  process down the line?
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          2                 We're very excited about, I don't

          3  know if you're familiar with digital paper. That's

          4  the name I call it, and I don't know what its

          5  official formal name is, but a technology where the

          6  paper actually has intelligence, so that people

          7  using or charged with filling out the tickets really

          8  don't have to learn a new paradigm of a hand-held

          9  and operating systems and devices that maybe are

         10  unfamiliar with it, they simply use a pen and

         11  special paper, and the pen actually collects the

         12  data.

         13                 Yes. It's actually a technology where

         14  your form is printed with a series of microdot,

         15  really invisible to the naked eye, but there's a

         16  camera in the pen. So, as you write, the pen

         17  actually knows where it is on the paper. So it can

         18  understand check boxes and things like that, and it

         19  actually records everything that's written. So, you

         20  can actually have a physical paper copy, that's

         21  written with ink, but you also have a digital copy

         22  that's actually stored in the pen.

         23                 The beauty of that is that the user

         24  doesn't have to learn anything new. I think the pens

         25  are about $199 or something like that. You have to
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          2  get your paper printed with the mark of course,

          3  there's a little cost in that, but it can be done by

          4  a regular printer.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: We're looking at

          6  it. We're looking at it.

          7                 MR. SWEZEY: Yes. We've worked with

          8  some customers in that area, banks and whatnot, that

          9  want to have people fill out traditional, you know,

         10  loan applications, things like that, where they, you

         11  know, they want a paper copy but the bank wants to

         12  collect the data very quickly, you know, get it in

         13  process.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         15                 So, to the best of your knowledge,

         16  this came up earlier, most, if not all of the ECB is

         17  processed in Wilmington and not in Ghana?

         18                 MR. SWEZEY: Right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Is that your

         20  understanding?

         21                 MR. SWEZEY: You know, they say any

         22  publicity is good publicity, but you're probably

         23  referring to, there was an article in either August

         24  or September issue of New York Times, and the

         25  research that was done for that article actually
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          2  occurred back in, it was when Rumsfeld and Buono

          3  were over doing their tour of Africa and they

          4  actually stopped by our facility over there, and,

          5  so, of course, New York Times had a reporter over

          6  there at the time, so that's actually when it was

          7  written, but it didn't come out for months later,

          8  and we, at all of our facilities where we have data

          9  entry people, we train them on all of our jobs, and

         10  our system basically let's this route work anywhere.

         11                 So, for example, we don't have a

         12  facility in India, but if we did, and India and

         13  Pakistan were to go to war, we could simply route

         14  that work some place else.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay, thank you.

         16                 Do you also think then that there

         17  could -- are there other ways under the current

         18  system that we could do some eliminating of City

         19  costs? Obviously the notion of not providing

         20  couriers, doing it electronically is one.

         21                 MR. SWEZEY: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Are there any

         23  other ideas from the conversation that you heard

         24  today? Because your expertise is vast.

         25                 MR. SWEZEY: Certainly the courier
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          2  expenses we could eliminate real simply by, you

          3  know, the requirement of the contract right now is

          4  we pick up, physically pick up the tickets and

          5  physically bring back a tape.

          6                 The volume of tickets is, I don't

          7  know exactly but is about 3,000 a day.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: It's very doable.

          9                 MR. SWEZEY: Yes. Certainly the City

         10  could scan those in, transmit them to us and we

         11  could begin work on them immediately, saving the

         12  courier back and forth to Wilmington.

         13                 That would be one easy area to save,

         14  you know, a couple thousand dollars a month.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         16                 MR. SWEZEY: Now-a-days with high

         17  speed communications, you know, sometimes we don't

         18  even know where our customers are. You know, we will

         19  put data on our secure FTP site, they'll come in and

         20  grab it, and it's all almost virtual.

         21                 So, certainly, yes, the physical

         22  moving of media, paper magnetic optical media, is

         23  almost not a necessity nowadays.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         25                 Are there other questions from
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          2  colleagues?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Council Member

          5  Lopez.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: This pen is

          7  available?

          8                 MR. SWEZEY: Yes. It's actually got a

          9  camera in it, and as you write and go over this

         10  series of dots, it knows where it is on the page, so

         11  it actually knows your handwriting. And if you've

         12  got predefined areas, for example, like checkboxes,

         13  okay?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         15                 MR. SWEZEY: It actually knows, well,

         16  you checked this box or this box. The intelligence

         17  can be built in.

         18                 And to get the data out of the pen,

         19  some of them have a cradle attached to a computer

         20  and you just put it in a cradle and it downloads the

         21  data. Or some of them actually you use blue tooth,

         22  which is a wireless protocol, where wirelessly it

         23  can send the data to a computer.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And how big

         25  these pens are?
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          2                 MR. SWEZEY: They're --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Like this

          4  (indicating)?

          5                 MR. SWEZEY: Yes, they're of course a

          6  little fatter because they've got a camera in them,

          7  as well as some memory. The wireless ones, of

          8  course, have a transmitter in them. But no larger

          9  than, you know, something like that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Something like

         11  that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Join the

         13  Technology Committee.

         14                 MR. SWEZEY: It really is fascinating

         15  and we're starting to have some success.

         16                 Our company is, our Charter is to

         17  help people better manage their documents.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The pen can

         19  write any document?

         20                 MR. SWEZEY: Yes, it has an ink

         21  cartridge in it.

         22                 Sure, yes. Absolutely.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It doesn't have

         24  to have a special --

         25                 MR. SWEZEY: The special paper is only
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          2  required if you want to capture the data.

          3                 So, the ECB tickets are a perfect

          4  application because they're preprinted.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

          6                 MR. SWEZEY: You certainly could take

          7  a notepad and write on the notepad.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Will it stay in

          9  the pen?

         10                 MR. SWEZEY: That won't stay in the

         11  pen because you need the special grid.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I see.

         13                 Then you need that special paper in

         14  order to stay in the pen.

         15                 MR. SWEZEY: They even sell notepads.

         16  I've got one next to my desk, and so when people

         17  call and want to discuss a project, I take notes on,

         18  it looks like a regular old eight and a half by 11

         19  pad, and then when I'm done there's a little

         20  checkbox in the right-hand corner, and I just check

         21  that and it goes into the computer.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I see.

         23                 MR. SWEZEY: And then I've got a

         24  physical copy. I can certainly file.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Council member,
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          2  I'll show you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You have it?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I know somebody

          5  who does have it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, I'm very

          7  curious about this.

          8                 MR. SWEZEY: Okay, but the beauty of

          9  that system is, is, you know, it sounds neat and

         10  all, but you would say, well, what's the value of

         11  that over something like a hand-held, and the value

         12  is, is that -- well, first there's a very low

         13  implementation cost, but cost aside, there's no

         14  retraining necessary. So, you don't have to take

         15  people out of their traditional paradigm. You just

         16  say, look, now you're going to use this pen, instead

         17  of this pen.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Let me say why

         19  it is that I'm curious about this.

         20                 You know that all of the buildings by

         21  law supposed to have posted in the lobby of the

         22  building accessible to any Fire Department personnel

         23  who need to go in there, or any Department personnel

         24  of the Sanitation Department, supposed to be by law

         25  in the hallway, information about who are the
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          2  responsible parties for the building, the telephone

          3  numbers, the address, and if we're talking about a

          4  pen and a piece of paper, the problem of

          5  Commissioner Stark is resolved. She can have

          6  information right there of who is responsible for

          7  this particular ticket in the case of the building.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: It's available

          9  now in terms of some of the hand-helds. The paper is

         10  obviously easier. You can do that in the hand-helds

         11  also.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Also. Then I

         13  don't see the problem.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Resources.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes, I really

         16  don't see the problem. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Council Member

         18  Sears.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You've been

         20  sitting here the entire time I think, so that you've

         21  heard the testimony from Finance and the effort to

         22  coordinate inner agencies with the problems that we

         23  have; is that something that you would have the

         24  resource to do?

         25                 In other words, in coordinating the

                                                            124

          1  FINANCE AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  inner agencies, it takes forever to really get, with

          3  all the good efforts, to really get a system such

          4  where the agencies can absolutely pull up and the

          5  bottom line is they'll know exactly what that bottom

          6  line is without having to unfold layers upon layers

          7  of papers; is that something that is possible within

          8  your realm of technology? Expertise?

          9                 MR. SWEZEY: Yes. I think that

         10  question is very insightful because as I was sitting

         11  there listening to everything, my main thought that

         12  I kept coming back to over and over again is the

         13  whole problem here is a communications problem, it's

         14  communications between ECB, between the various

         15  agencies that write the violations, between

         16  Department of Finance.

         17                 I'm not very involved in government

         18  so I don't know whose responsibility all of these

         19  different databases are and whatnot, as far as

         20  property ownership and that kind of thing, but,

         21  again, it seems to me that that's the overriding

         22  problem, is communications.

         23                 And if there were an integrated

         24  system, and maybe NYCServ is going to do this, and I

         25  don't know that much about that system, if there
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          2  were an integrated system where everyone could share

          3  data, not only about violations and their status,

          4  but also about property ownership and street vendors

          5  that I believe have to be issued permits and I don't

          6  know who does that, and car ownership and all that,

          7  if all that were integrated, it seems like a lot of

          8  this stuff would go away. And certainly there is

          9  technology available to do that.

         10                 Again, it's a question of resources

         11  and how difficult is it and how quickly can you

         12  implement it.

         13                 So, on one tact, you could have a

         14  long range vision and say, you know what? At some

         15  point we were going to get all the City Departments

         16  under an integrated system, where we can all see

         17  what each other is doing and share data and that

         18  kind of thing.

         19                 More immediately, though, I think

         20  there is probably a lot of value in again conducting

         21  this root cause analysis. You know, why, what's

         22  causing this $600 million pile-up or backlog here?

         23                 Because you may find that, you know,

         24  there's just a couple very simple things that are

         25  causing a high percentage of uncollectible
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          2  violations that you say, you know what? We can fix

          3  that without every City agency being integrated and

          4  we can improve by ten or 20 or 30 percent our

          5  collection ratio, you know, quickly over the next

          6  couple of years, without having to spend $100

          7  million to interconnect everybody.

          8                 So, it's two tacts that I think will

          9  be worthwhile looking at, a long range and a short

         10  range.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, I think

         12  that's what government has to look at, the short

         13  range for how we resolve immediately certain things,

         14  and long range in how we eliminate these things that

         15  need immediate resolutions.

         16                 MR. SWEZEY: Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         18                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         20  much for taking the time to join us here today. I

         21  really appreciate it.

         22                 MR. SWEZEY: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And we'll keep in

         24  touch.

         25                 MR. SWEZEY: It's my pleasure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.

          3                 Hearing adjourned. And thank you,

          4  Nick Noe, and Jim Caras.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 12:45 p.m.)
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